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Independent Auditors’ Report 

Kevyn Orr, Emergency Financial Manager, 

 the Board of Water Commissioners, 

 the Honorable Mayor Mike Duggan, and 

 the Honorable Members of the City Council 

City of Detroit, Michigan: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Water Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund 

of the City of Detroit, Michigan (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related 

notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Fund’s basic financial statements as 

listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, 

and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

 

 
 

KPMG LLP 
Suite 1900 
150 West Jefferson 
Detroit, MI 48226 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership, 
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the Water Fund, as of June 30, 2013, and the changes in its financial position, and its 

cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Emphasis of Matters 

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Uncertainty About Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 

The accompanying basic financial statements have been prepared assuming that the City and the Water 

Fund will continue as a going concern. As discussed in note 16(a) to the basic financial statements, on 

July 18, 2013, the City, including the Fund, filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy 

Code which raises substantial doubt about the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s 

plans in regard to this matter are also described in note 16. The financial statements do not include any 

adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with 

respect to this matter. 

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Pension Plans 

As discussed in note 11(d) and (e) to the basic financial statements, the City and the General Retirement 

Systems (GRS) a single-employer defined benefit pension plan which covers substantially all employees of 

the City, including employees of the Fund, utilized different actuarial assumptions in calculating the 

unfunded actuarial accrued liability. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Fund Financial Statements 

As discussed in note 1, the basic financial statements present only the Water Fund and do not purport to, 

and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Detroit, Michigan, as of June 30, 2013, the 

changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified 

with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis, schedules of employer contributions, and 

schedules of funding progress that U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require to be presented to 

supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic 

financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 

an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 

operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected 

by this missing information. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the Fund’s basic financial statements. The other supplemental information is presented for 

purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
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The other supplemental information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 

directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such 

supplemental information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us in the audit of the 

basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 

information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 

statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, based on our 

audit, the other supplemental information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 

financial statements as a whole. 

 

Detroit, Michigan 

July 25, 2014 

 

 

 



CITY OF DETROIT
WATER FUND

Statement of Fund Net Position

June 30, 2013

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,273,604   
Investments 31,400,752   

Accounts receivable:
Billed accounts receivable 76,807,485   
Unbilled accounts receivable 31,426,122   
Other accounts receivable 2,827,025   
Allowance for doubtful accounts (27,158,423)  

Total accounts receivable, net 83,902,209   

Restricted:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,792,279   
Investments 105,703,197   

Due from other funds 48,334,968   
Due from fiduciary funds 1,680,314   
Inventories 6,261,724   
Prepaid expenses 3,819,179   

Total current assets 302,168,226   

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted:

Cash and cash equivalents 24,301,021   
Investments 199,563,737   

Other receivables 5,121,918   
Net pension asset 96,261,825   
Deferred charges 36,280,286   
Capital assets:

Assets not subject to depreciation 165,545,005   
Assets subject to depreciation, net 1,918,087,376   

Total noncurrent assets 2,445,161,168   
Total assets $ 2,747,329,394   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF DETROIT
WATER FUND

Statement of Fund Net Position

June 30, 2013

Current liabilities:
Accounts and contracts payable $ 23,947,476   
Accrued salaries and wages 969,965   
Due to other funds 8,272,748   
Other accrued liabilities 13,592,704   
Revenue bonds and state revolving loans 41,380,000   
Pension obligation certificates of participation 2,855,885   
Accrued interest 66,454,704   
Accrued compensated absences 9,340,642   
Accrued workers’ compensation 1,435,000   
Claims and judgments 17,236   

Total current liabilities 168,266,360   

Long-term liabilities:
Revenue bonds and state revolving loans, net 2,447,241,502   
Pension obligation certificates of participation, net 76,699,025   
Accrued other postemployment benefits 70,552,075   
Accrued compensated absences 1,282,223   
Accrued workers’ compensation 8,155,000   
Claims and judgments 226,750   
Derivative instruments – swap liability 16,489,465   

Total long-term liabilities 2,620,646,040   
Total liabilities $ 2,788,912,400   

Fund net position:
Net investment in capital assets $ 37,874,003   
Restricted:

Restricted for debt service 106,687,859   
Unrestricted deficit (186,144,868)  

Total fund net position $ (41,583,006)  

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF DETROIT
WATER FUND

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

Year ended June 30, 2013

Operating revenues:
Water sales – Detroit $ 75,653,761   
Water sales – suburban 275,185,243   
Miscellaneous 4,688,757   

Total operating revenues 355,527,761   

Operating expenses:
Source of supply 3,787,570   
Low-lift pumping 7,152,542   
High-lift pumping 22,348,780   
Purification 16,426,454   
Water quality operations 834,185   
Pumping stations 19,924,747   
Transmission 25,630,185   
Distribution 3,953,602   
Services 12,420,169   
Hydrant division 508,762   
Meters 4,635,389   
Commercial 7,352,495   
Administrative and general 26,229,460   
Other items:

Net OPEB obligation 17,248,909   
Nonrecurring capital asset adjustment 18,735,709   

Total operating expenses before depreciation 187,188,958   

Depreciation 83,031,094   

Total operating expenses 270,220,052   

Operating income 85,307,709   

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment losses:

Losses on investment activity (840,377)  
Change in fair value of derivatives (6,101,602)  

Interest expense, net of capitalized interest (127,866,520)  
Amortization of bond issuance costs (8,533,883)  
Miscellaneous revenues 6,404,158   

Total nonoperating expenses, net (136,938,224)  

Decrease in net position before capital contributions (51,630,515)  

Capital contributions 165,403   

Decrease in fund net position (51,465,112)  

Fund net position – beginning of year 9,882,106   
Fund net position – end of year $ (41,583,006)  

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF DETROIT
WATER FUND

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended June 30, 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers $ 366,533,111   
Internal activity – payments to other funds (15,255,345)  
Payments to suppliers (112,927,039)  
Payments to employees (61,797,221)  

Net cash provided by operating activities 176,553,506   

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Interest paid on pension obligation certificates of participation (5,021,870)  
Miscellaneous nonoperating income 6,404,158   

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 1,382,288   

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (25,388,614)  
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 234,062   
Principal paid on revenue bonds and state revolving loans (33,120,000)  
Interest paid on revenue bonds and state revolving loans (131,184,555)  

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (189,459,107)  

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 910,487,630   
Purchase of investments (915,942,700)  
Interest received on investments 1,630,634   

Net cash used in investing activities (3,824,436)  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,347,749)  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 60,714,653   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 45,366,904   

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income $ 85,307,709   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 83,031,094   
Bad debt expense 15,930,757   
Nonrecurring capital asset adjustment 18,735,709   
Loss on disposal of capital assets 1,945,313   
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (4,925,407)  
Due from other funds (8,555,773)  
Inventories (601,398)  
Prepaid expenses 678,366   
Net pension asset (5,584,729)  
Accounts and contracts payable (12,788,553)  
Accrued salaries and wages (126,172)  
Due to other funds (6,699,572)  
Due to fiduciary funds (10,952,567)  
Other accrued liabilities, compensated absences, and workers’ compensation 3,952,333   
Other postemployment benefits 17,248,910   
Claims and judgments payable (42,514)  

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 176,553,506   

Noncash activities:
Fair value of derivatives $ (8,077,440)  
Deferred outflows of resources investment derivatives 14,179,042   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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WATER FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

 8 (Continued) 

(1) Reporting Entity 

The City of Detroit (the City) Charter established the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department 

(the DWSD) in the year 1836 to supply water, drainage, and sewage service within and outside the City. 

The Water Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund, separately accounts for the Water Supply System 

(the System), as is required by bond ordinances of the City. 

The DWSD is governed by a seven member Board of Water Commissioners (the Board). Pursuant to 

federal court order issued in February 2011, the Board includes four members appointed by the Mayor of 

the City of Detroit, and one each nominated by the Wayne County Executive, the Oakland County Water 

Resources Commissioner, and the Macomb Public Works Commissioner with confirmation by the Mayor 

of Detroit. All members must have at least seven years of experience in a regulated industry. The Board’s 

governance structure, authority, and level of operational autonomy is established by four standing federal 

court orders dated September 9, 2011 (Creation of the Root Cause Committee); November 4, 2011 

(Adoption of the Root Cause Committee Plan of Action); October 5, 2012 (Clarification of the 

November 4, 2011 Order), and December 14, 2012 (Adoption of Root Cause Committee’s Plan of Action 

Clarification). 

These court orders were the result of federal court oversight of DWSD for most of the time from May 6, 

1977 through March 27, 2013. The nature of this case was alleged violations of the Clean Water Act 

involving the DWSD’s wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) and its National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System (NPDES) permit. On March 15, 2013, DWSD’s Director was required to submit the 

Final Director’s report of compliance for federal court review. The report summarized progress made in 

implementing the changes granted by the four court orders noted above. On March 27, 2013, the federal 

court judge entered a final order closing the case based upon “tremendous progress” by the empowered 

Board of Water Commissioners, implementation of human resource functions, and improved procurement 

policy, the court found that DWSD’s compliance record vastly improved. The resulting order was “that the 

existing ACO [Administrative Consent Order] is a sufficient mechanism to ensure sustained compliance 

with the DWSD’s NPDES permit and the Clean Water Act and this Court shall, therefore, close this case.” 

The final court order reiterated that it retains limited jurisdiction for the purpose of enforcement of its 

orders issued on September 9, 2011, November 4, 2011, October 5, 2012, and December 14, 2012. 

Authority granted by the federal court to the DWSD includes operational independence in the areas of law, 

finance, human resources, and procurement. Specifically these orders enjoin the City from applying any 

existing or future Charter provisions, ordinances, resolutions, executive orders, city policies, regulations, 

procedures or similar rules or practices that are inconsistent with the express terms of this court’s orders. 

Further the orders grant DWSD the authority to: purchase its own information technology systems; 

establish its own subunits and programs within its Finance Division including debt management, accounts 

payable, accounts receivable, accounting, budget, cash management, asset management, and deferred 

compensation; independence from City Finance Policies; be exempt from the application of City 

ordinances, the City’s human resources policies and regulations, Civil Service Commission Rules, and City 

resolutions and orders, pertaining to payroll, employee benefits, and employee and labor relations; 

establish bank accounts in its own name; establish its own self-insurance fund; and approve the issuance of 

debt and to refinance debt upon the sole approval of the Board of Water Commissioners (unless the debt 

contains a full or partial general obligation pledge of the City of Detroit, in which case City Council 



CITY OF DETROIT 

WATER FUND 
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 9 (Continued) 

approval would be required prior to issuance).The basic financial statements of the Fund have been 

included in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and reported as an enterprise fund. Copies 

of these reports, along with other financial information, can be obtained at the Fund’s administrative office 

located at 735 Randolph, Detroit, Michigan 48226 and on its website at www.dwsd.org. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of the 

Fund’s basic financial statements. These policies conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 

(GAAP). 

(a) Basis of Accounting 

The accounting policies of the Fund conform to GAAP as applicable to governmental entities. The 

accounts of the Fund, which are organized as an enterprise fund, are used to account for the Fund’s 

activities, which are financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business enterprise. 

Accordingly, the Fund maintains its records on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues from 

operations, investments, and other sources are recorded when earned. Expenses (including 

depreciation) of providing services to the public are accrued when incurred. 

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Fund receives value without directly giving equal value in 

return, include contributions and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from contributions and grants 

is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility 

requirements include timing requirements and expenditure requirements. Timing requirements 

specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when use is first 

permitted. Expenditure requirements specify the year in which the resources are provided to the Fund 

on a reimbursement basis. 

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with 

original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

(c) Investments 

Investments are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. 

(d) Inventories and Prepaid Items. 

Inventories consist of operating and maintenance and repair parts for water assets and are valued at 

the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on an average cost method. Inventory is 

recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors 

reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid items. 

http://www.dwsd.org/
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(e) Capital Assets 

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost, together with interest capitalized during construction. 

The Fund’s capitalization levels are $5,000 on tangible personal property and for improvements 

other than buildings, and $50,000 on infrastructure, including water mains. All acquisitions of land 

and land improvements are capitalized regardless of cost. Depreciation is computed using the 

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows: 

Land improvements 67 years
Building and structures 40 years
Mains 67 years
Services and meters 20–67 years
Machinery, equipment, and fixtures 3–20 years

 

The Fund capitalizes qualifying net interest costs of the System on bonds issued for capital 

construction in accordance with FASB Statement No. 34, Capitalization of Interest Cost, as 

amended. Accordingly, capitalized interest for the year ended June 30, 2013 was $7,244,644. 

Construction in progress is related to buildings, improvements or infrastructure, that have not yet 

been placed in service for the intended use. These costs include contract costs (materials, labor, and 

overhead) as well as professional fees and interest incurred during the construction period. Upon 

completion, construction-in-progress costs are transferred to the appropriate capital asset 

classification. A periodic review of projects included in construction in progress identified projects 

as suspended or cancelled during the period and resulted in project related operations and 

maintenance costs being recorded as a nonrecurring capital asset adjustment expense. 

(f) Taxes and City Services 

The Fund pays no direct federal, state, or local taxes, except local taxes on excess property and 

federal Social Security taxes. The Fund reimburses the City for most of the direct services furnished 

by other City departments, including general staff services. Charges are billed for all water services 

provided to City departments. 

(g) Shared Costs 

Costs related to shared facilities and personnel are allocated to the Fund on a basis that relates costs 

incurred to the Fund benefited. 

(h) Compensated Absences 

The liability for compensated absences reported in the basic financial statements consists of unpaid, 

accumulated vacation, and sick leave balances. Unused vacation pay and banked overtime 

accumulate up to a maximum level until termination of employment, while there is no vesting of sick 

pay until an employee reaches age 60 or completes 25 years of service. The liability for compensated 

absences has been calculated using the vesting method, in which leave amounts for both employees 

who currently are eligible to receive termination payments and other employees who are expected to 



CITY OF DETROIT 

WATER FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
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become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included. The liability 

has been calculated based on the employees’ current salary level and includes salary-related costs 

(e.g., Social Security and Medicare tax). 

(i) Bond Premiums, Discounts, Issuance Costs, and Deferred Amounts on Refunding 

Bond premiums, discounts, issuance costs, and deferred amounts on refunding are deferred and 

amortized over the life of the bonds. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized using the effective 

interest method, and bond issuance costs and deferred amounts on refunding are amortized using the 

straight-line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium, discounts, and 

deferred amounts on refunding. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges. 

(j) Net Position 

Fund net position is categorized as follows: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, 

and related debt. 

Restricted – The net position has been legally restricted by outside parties or by law through 

constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are 

available for use, generally it is the Fund’s policy to use restricted resources first, and then 

unrestricted resources when they are needed. 

Unrestricted – This consists of assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 

investment in capital assets.” 

(k) Unbilled Revenue 

The Fund records unbilled revenues for services provided prior to year-end by accruing actual 

revenues billed in the subsequent month. 

(l) Interest Expense 

Interest expense in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position includes 

amounts paid on interest rate swaps, as well as the amortization of premiums, discounts, and deferred 

amounts on refunding. Interest expense is reported net of capitalized interest of $7,244,644 for the 

year ended June 30, 2013. 

(m) Classification of Revenues and Expenses 

The Fund classifies its revenues and expenses as either operating or nonoperating. 

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions, such as 

revenue from charges for water service. Such revenue has been shown net of allowances of 

$15,930,757. 
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Nonoperating revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions, 

such as contributions and investment income. 

Operating expenses include the costs of operating the water utility, administrative expenses, and 

depreciation on capital assets. All expenses not meeting this definition, including interest expense, 

are reported as nonoperating expenses. 

(n) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 

from those estimates. 

(o) Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements 

In March 2012, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement 

No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities, which is required to be implemented for 

financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2012. Statement No. 65 establishes 

accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify, as deferred outflows and inflows of 

resources, certain items that were previously reported as assets and liabilities. This Statement also 

provides other financial reporting guidance related to the impact of the financial statement elements 

deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. The Fund is currently evaluating 

the impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted during the Fund’s fiscal 

year ending June 30, 2014. 

In March 2012, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 66, Technical Corrections – an Amendment 

of GASB Statements No. 10 and No. 62. This Statement amends or removes certain provisions of 

GASB Statements No. 10 and No. 62 related to fund-based reporting of a state and local 

government’s risk financing activities, accounting for operating lease payments, differences between 

the initial investment and the principal amount of a purchased loan or group of loans, and servicing 

fees related to mortgage loans that are sold when the stated service fee rate differs significantly from 

the current (normal) servicing fee rate. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact this standard will 

have on the financial statements when adopted during the Fund’s 2014 fiscal year. 

In June 2012, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans. 

This new standard, which replaces the requirements of GASB Statements No. 25, Financial 

Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans, 

and No. 50, Pension Disclosures, establishes standards for financial reporting that outline the basic 

framework for separately issued pension plan financial reports and specifies the required approach to 

measuring the liability of employer and certain nonemployer contributing entities, about which 

information is required to be disclosed. GASB Statement No. 67 is required to be adopted for years 

beginning after June 15, 2013. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on 

the financial statements when adopted during the Fund’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2014. 



CITY OF DETROIT 

WATER FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

 13 (Continued) 

In June 2012, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Pensions. Statement No. 68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize 

their unfunded pension benefit obligation as a liability for the first time, and to more 

comprehensively and comparably measure the annual costs of pension benefits. This net pension 

liability that will be recorded on the government-wide, proprietary, and discretely presented 

component unit statements will be computed differently than the current unfunded actuarial accrued 

liability, using specific parameters set forth by the GASB. The statement also enhances 

accountability and transparency through revised and new note disclosures and required supplemental 

information (RSI). The Fund is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on the 

financial statements when adopted during the Fund’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. 

In January 2013, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and 

Disposals of Government Operations. Statement No. 69 establishes accounting and financial 

reporting standards related to government combinations and disposals of government operations. As 

used in the Statement, the term government combinations includes a variety of transactions referred 

to as mergers, acquisitions, and transfers of operations. The Statement requires disclosures to be 

made about government combinations and disposals of government operations to enable financial 

statement users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of those transactions. The City is 

currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted 

during the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. 

In November 2013, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions 

Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. The objective of the Statement is to address an issue 

regarding application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial 

Reporting for Pensions (see above). The Statement amends paragraph 137 of Statement No. 68 to 

require that, at transition, a government recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its 

pension contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension 

liability. The provisions of this Statement are required to be applied simultaneously with the 

provisions of Statement No. 68. The City is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have 

on the financial statements when adopted during the City’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. 

(p) New Accounting Pronouncements 

During the year, the Fund adopted GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 

Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position. The statement incorporates 

deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, as defined by GASB Concepts 

Statement No. 4, into the definitions of the required components of the residual measure of net 

position, formerly net assets. The statement also provides a new statement of net position format to 

report all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net 

position. The statement impacted the format and reporting of the balance sheet. 
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(3) Deposits and Investments 

The deposits and investments of the Fund at June 30, 2013 are reported in the basic financial statements as 

follows: 

Cash and cash
equivalents Investments

Current unrestricted assets $ 16,273,604    31,400,752   
Current restricted assets 4,792,279    105,703,197   
Noncurrent restricted assets 24,301,021    199,563,737   

Total cash and investments $ 45,366,904    336,667,686   

 

State law authorizes the Fund to make deposits in the accounts of federally insured financial institutions. 

Cash held by fiscal agents or by trustees is secured in accordance with the requirements of the agency or 

trust agreement. 

The Fund is authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. government or its agencies, certificates of 

deposit, savings and depository accounts of insured institutions, commercial paper of certain investment 

quality, repurchase agreements, banker’s acceptances, mutual funds of certain investment quality, and 

investment pools as authorized by state law. 

(a) Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be 

returned by the bank. The Fund does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At June 30, 

2013, the Fund had $43,278,127 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit, checking, and savings 

accounts) that were uninsured and uncollateralized. The Fund believes that due to the dollar amount 

of cash deposits, and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits. As a result, 

the Fund evaluates each financial institution it deposits funds with and assesses the level of risk of 

each institution; only those institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used as 

depositories. 

(b) Custodial Credit Risk of Investments 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of failure of the counterparty, the Fund will not be 

able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 

outside party. The Fund does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2013, the 

Fund had no investments subject to custodial credit risk. 

(c) Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that, over time, the value of investments will decrease as a result of an 

increase in interest rates. The Fund’s investment policy does not specifically restrict investment 

maturities other than commercial paper, which can only be purchased with a 270-day maturity. The 

Fund’s policy minimizes interest rate risk by requiring that the Fund attempt to match its investments 
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with anticipated cash flow requirements. Unless related to a specific cash flow, the Fund is generally 

not permitted to directly invest in securities maturing more than 10 years from the original date of 

purchase. As of June 30, 2013, the maturities for the Fund’s fixed income investments were as 

follows: 

Investment maturities in years
Less than One to Six to

Fair value one year five years ten years

Investment:
U.S. government agency

securities $ 208,183,290   —    190,769,170   17,414,120   
Pooled funds 128,484,396   128,484,396   —    —    

Total
investments $ 336,667,686   128,484,396   190,769,170   17,414,120   

 

(d) Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Fund will not recover its investments due to the inability of the 

counterparty to fulfill its obligation. The Fund limits its investments in commercial paper, mutual 

funds, and external investment pools that purchase commercial paper to the top two rating 

classifications issued by two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs). 

As of June 30, 2013, the credit quality ratings for the Fund’s fixed income investments were as 

follows: 

Ratings
Investment Fair value S&P Moody’s

U.S. government agency securities $ 208,183,290   AA+ Aaa
Pooled funds 128,484,396   AAAm Aaa

Total investments $ 336,667,686   

 

(e) Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Fund’s investment in 

a single issuer. The Fund’s policy specifies a number of limitations to minimize concentration of 

credit risk, including prohibiting investing more than 5% of the portfolio in securities (other than 

U.S. government agencies, mutual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled investments) 

of any one issuer. 

More than 5% of the Fund’s investments are in Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit 

Bank, and Federal National Mortgage Association securities. These investments represented 16%, 

10%, and 35%, respectively, of the Fund’s total investments as of June 30, 2013. 
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(4) Restricted Assets 

Restricted assets, principally cash and investments, are available for debt service on revenue bonds and to 

provide funds for improvements, enlargements, extensions, and construction. In certain instances, 

minimum levels of assets are required by bond ordinance provisions or by Board of Water Commissioners’ 

decree. These assets are maintained as follows: 

(1) With respect to the Bond and Interest Redemption Fund, after provision has been made for expenses 

of operation and maintenance of the System, a sum proportionately sufficient to provide for 

payment, when due, of the current principal and interest is set aside. The Bond Reserve Account is 

part of the Bond and Interest Redemption Fund, and the amounts credited to this account are to be 

used only to pay principal and interest on the bonds when current revenues are not sufficient. 

(2) With respect to the Extraordinary Repair and Replacement Reserve Fund, after meeting the 

requirements of the foregoing funds, monthly deposits in an amount equal to one-twelfth of 3% of 

the budgeted operation and maintenance expense of the System for the fiscal year must be set aside 

until the aggregate amount funded totals at least 15% of that year’s budgeted operating and 

maintenance costs. These deposits are to be used for major unanticipated repairs and replacement to 

the System with actual or anticipated cost exceeding $1 million. Once this fund is fully funded, 

deposits required are amounts needed to maintain fully funded status. Borrowings of up to 50% of 

the balance in this fund on the first day of the related fiscal year are allowed for transfer to and use 

from the Improvement and Extension Fund. Any such borrowings must be repaid prior to any 

deposits being made to the Improvement and Extension Fund. 

(3) After the above deposits have been made, excess amounts may be deposited in the Improvement and 

Extension Fund, established for the payment of improvements, enlargements, repairs, extensions, or 

betterment to the System. 

(4) With respect to the Construction Fund, the portion of the proceeds of the sale of bonds for building 

or improving the System is deposited in this fund. A separate depository account is required for each 

series of bonds. Proceeds for construction purposes received from federal and state grants and other 

sources that restrict the use of such proceeds are also deposited into this account. 
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(5) Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows: 

Balance, Balance,

June 30, June 30,

2012 Additions Disposals 2013

Nondepreciated capital assets:

Land and land rights $ 6,466,486 —  —  6,466,486

Construction in progress 235,667,626 16,393,660 (92,982,767) 159,078,519

Total nondepreciable

assets 242,134,112 16,393,660 (92,982,767) 165,545,005

Depreciated capital assets:

Land improvements 101,297,526 1,272 (1,272) 101,297,526

Buildings and structures 781,238,195 25,755,681 (301,795) 806,692,081

Mains 997,757,837 10,122,820 (160,956) 1,007,719,701

Services 51,838,576 —  —  51,838,576

Meters 123,186,963 980,176 (328,441) 123,838,698

Machinery, equipment,

and fixtures 1,011,433,159 50,770,343 (1,640,416) 1,060,563,086

Total depreciable

assets 3,066,752,256 87,630,292 (2,432,880) 3,151,949,668

Less accumulated depreciation:

Land improvements (16,629,135) (1,449,486) —  (18,078,621)

Buildings and structures (284,433,656) (17,377,301) —  (301,810,957)

Mains (337,513,264) (14,204,137) —  (351,717,401)

Services (26,846,269) (632,059) —  (27,478,328)

Meters (44,718,078) (5,091,268) —  (49,809,346)

Machinery, equipment, and

fixtures (440,941,766) (44,276,843) 250,970 (484,967,639)

Total accumulated

depreciation (1,151,082,168) (83,031,094) 250,970 (1,233,862,292)

Net capital assets $ 2,157,804,200 20,992,858 (95,164,677) 2,083,632,381

 

See note 14 for discussion of commitments related to construction activities. 
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(6) Long-Term Obligations 

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Balance, Balance, Amount

June 30, June 30, due within

2012 Increase Decrease 2013 one year

Revenue bonds $ 2,556,395,000 —  (31,620,000) 2,524,775,000 39,850,000 

State revolving loans 22,953,761 —  (1,500,000) 21,453,761 1,530,000 

Total revenue

bonds 2,579,348,761 —  (33,120,000) 2,546,228,761 41,380,000 

Add unamortized premiums 58,543,808 —  (3,460,576) 55,083,232  —  

Less:

Unamortized discounts (3,844,224) —  211,804 (3,632,420) —  

Deferred amounts on refunding (115,135,403) —  6,077,332 (109,058,071) —  

Total revenue

bonds, net 2,518,912,942 —  (30,291,440) 2,488,621,502 41,380,000 

Pension obligation certificates

2005 series 27,098,167 —  —  27,098,167 2,855,885 

Pension obligation certificates

2006 series 51,506,122 —  —  51,506,122 —  

Plus deferred amounts on

refunding 953,488 —  (2,867) 950,621 —  

Total pension

obligation

certificates, net 79,557,777 —  (2,867) 79,554,910 2,855,885 

Other long-term liabilities:

Accrued compensated absences 9,421,311 10,542,196 (9,340,642) 10,622,865 9,340,642 

Accrued workers’ compensation 10,339,000 3,658,431 (4,407,431) 9,590,000 1,435,000 

Claims and judgments 286,500 616,041 (658,555) 243,986 17,236 

Accrued other postemployment

benefits 53,303,165 28,034,697 (10,785,787) 70,552,075 —  

Total other

long-term

liabilities 73,349,976 42,851,365 (25,192,415) 91,008,926 10,792,878 

Total $ 2,671,820,695 42,851,365 (55,486,722) 2,659,185,338 55,028,763 
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(7) Revenue Bonds Payable (Including State Revolving Loans) 

Revenue bonds payable and state revolving loans amounted to $2,546,228,761 at June 30, 2013. Net 

revenues of the Fund are pledged to repayment of bonds. The following is a schedule of the revenue bonds 

payable at June 30, 2013: 

Outstanding

Range of balance at

Bond Amount interest Maturity June 30,

Issue date issued rates date 2013

Series 1993 10/15/93 $ 38,225,000   6.50% 7/01/14-15 $ 24,725,000  

Series 1997-A 8/01/97 186,220,000   6.00  7/01/14-15 13,430,000  

Series 2001-A 5/01/01 301,165,000   5.00  7/1/29-30 73,790,000   c

Series 2001-C 5/14/08 4,055,000   3.50 to 4.25 7/01/13-18 2,240,000  

Series 2001-C 5/14/08 186,350,000   4.50 to 5.75 7/01/19-29 186,350,000   c

Series 2003-A 1/30/03 234,805,000   4.50 to 5.00 7/01/19-34 178,785,000   c

Series 2003-B 1/30/03 41,770,000   5.00  7/01/34 41,770,000   c

Series 2003-C 1/30/03 4,335,000   Variable (*) 7/01/13-14 4,335,000  

Series 2003-C 1/30/03 25,325,000   4.25 to 5.25 7/01/15-22 25,325,000   c

Series 2003-D 9/01/06 3,180,000   4.00 to 4.20 7/01/13-16 1,320,000  

Series 2003-D 9/01/06 139,575,000   4.25 to 5.00 7/01/17-33 139,575,000   c

Series 2004-A 8/16/06 17,600,000   3.75 to 5.25 7/01/13-16 17,520,000  

Series 2004-A 8/16/06 55,165,000   4.50 to 5.25 7/01/17-25 55,165,000   c

Series 2004-B 8/16/06 52,840,000   4.00 to 5.00 7/01/13-16 29,975,000  

Series 2004-B 8/16/06 100,990,000   4.25 to 5.00 7/01/17-23 100,990,000   c

Series 2005-A 3/23/05 20,965,000   3.40 to 5.00 7/01/13-15 6,375,000  

Series 2005-A 3/23/05 84,035,000   3.90 to 5.00 7/01/16-35 84,035,000   c

Series 2005-B 5/14/08 19,070,000   4.00 to 5.50 7/01/13-18 13,525,000  

Series 2005-B 5/14/08 175,830,000   4.75 to 5.50 7/01/19-35 175,830,000   c

Series 2005-C 3/23/05 36,405,000   5.00  7/01/13-15 21,090,000  

Series 2005-C 3/23/05 90,200,000   5.00  7/01/16-22 90,200,000   c

Series 2006-A 8/16/06 42,795,000   5.00  7/01/13-16 26,900,000  

Series 2006-A 8/16/06 237,205,000   5.00  7/01/17-34 237,205,000   c

Series 2006-B 4/01/09 900,000   3.30 to 5.00 7/01/13-19 700,000  

Series 2006-B 4/01/09 119,100,000   5.50 to 7.00 7/01/20-36 119,100,000   c

Series 2006-C 8/16/06 12,585,000   4.00 to 5.00 7/01/13-16 9,655,000  

Series 2006-C 8/16/06 208,060,000   5.00  7/01/17-33 208,060,000   c

Series 2006-D 8/16/06 4,430,000   4.00 to 5.00 7/01/13-16 1,760,000  

Series 2006-D 8/16/06 142,160,000   4.25 to 5.00 7/01/17-32 142,160,000   c

Series 2011-A 12/22/11 37,880,000   3.00 to 5.00 7/01/13-21 32,380,000  

Series 2011-A 12/22/11 341,710,000   5.00 to 5.75 7/01/22-41 341,710,000   c

Series 2011-B 12/22/11 7,455,000   2.496 to 5.00 7/01/13-21 6,390,000  

Series 2011-B 12/22/11 9,740,000   6.00  7/01/22-33 9,740,000   c

Series 2011-C 12/22/11 3,925,000   3.00 to 5.00 7/01/21 2,700,000  

Series 2011-C 12/22/11 99,965,000   4.50 to 5.25 7/01/23-41 99,965,000   c

Total revenue bonds payable $ 2,524,775,000  

* Interest rates are reset periodically at the stated current market interest rate.

c Indicates bonds are callable under terms specified in the indenture; all other bonds are noncallable.
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The following is a schedule of the state revolving loans at June 30, 2013: 

Outstanding

Range of balance at

Bond Amount interest Maturity June 30,

Issue date issued rates date 2013

Series 2005 SRF-1 9/22/05 $ 13,805,164  2.125% 10/01/13-26 $ 9,960,164  

Series 2005 SRF-2 9/22/05 8,891,730  2.125 10/01/13-26 6,241,730  

Series 2006 SRF-1 9/21/06 5,180,926  2.125 10/01/13-26 3,715,926  

Series 2008 SRF-1 9/29/08 2,590,941  2.500 10/01/13-28 1,535,941  

Total state

revolving loans $ 21,453,761  

 

The state revolving loans are issued as part of the State of Michigan’s Revolving Fund Loan Program. As 

the System draws additional amount from time to time hereafter, the outstanding principal amounts of such 

bonds will correspondingly increase. All loans are callable under terms specified in the loan agreements. 

As of June 30, 2013, aggregate debt service requirements of the Fund’s debt (fixed-rate and variable-rate) 

instruments were as follows, to the extent not otherwise adjusted and/or discharged pursuant to the plan of 

adjustment confirmed in the Bankruptcy Case. These amounts assume that current interest rates on variable 

rate bonds will remain the same for their term. As these rates vary, interest payments on variable-rate 

bonds will vary. 

Total
Principal Interest requirements

Year(s) ending June 30:
2014 $ 41,380,000   131,247,052   172,627,052   
2015 53,345,000   129,316,023   182,661,023   
2016 58,660,000   126,493,985   185,153,985   
2017 61,720,000   123,387,156   185,107,156   
2018 64,685,000   120,393,717   185,078,717   
2019–2023 369,815,941   550,462,485   920,278,426   
2024–2028 467,407,820   445,793,623   913,201,443   
2029–2033 581,100,000   316,521,486   897,621,486   
2034–2038 587,260,000   158,565,766   745,825,766   
2039–2042 260,855,000   34,774,526   295,629,526   

$ 2,546,228,761   2,136,955,819   4,683,184,580   
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Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2013 include approximately $2.3 billion of bonds and loans callable at 

various dates after June 30, 2013. These bonds are callable at varying premiums, depending on the issue 

and length of time to maturity. 

(a) Issuance of State Revolving Loans 

No new loans were received from the State of Michigan Revolving Loan Fund during the year ended 

June 30, 2013. At June 30, 2013, $3,909,059 in bonds was authorized and unissued. 

(b) Defeased Debt 

In previous years, the Fund defeased certain revenue bonds by placing the proceeds of new revenue 

bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. 

Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the 

Fund’s basic financial statements. At June 30, 2013, $178,070,000 of bonds outstanding is 

considered defeased. 

(c) Pledges of Future Revenue 

The Water Fund has pledged specific revenue streams to secure the repayment of the revenue bonds 

and State of Michigan revolving fund loans. The bonds and loans are paid solely from the net 

revenues of the System. A summary of the pledged revenue and the applicable debt as of June 30, 

2013 is as follows: 

Principal Pledged

and Revenue

Remaining interest recognized

principal for for the

Term of and the year year Proportion

Type of pledged interest ended ended of pledged

revenue General purpose for commit- require- June 30, June 30, revenue

Bonds pledged debt ment ment 2013 2013 collected

Funding of various

waste water treatment

and collection capital

improvements, refund

certain water revenue

Revenue Bonds bonds, pay termination

and State of amounts for interest

Michigan All Water Fund rate swap agreements,

Revolving Fund operating and funding reserve
Loans revenue requirements Thru 2040 $ 4,683,184,580 172,638,228  209,887,202  121.6%

 

The fund has approximately $334 million in restricted cash and investments related to various bond 

indentures as of June 30, 2013. 
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(d) Debt Ratings 

In November 2012, Moody’s downgraded the ratings of the Funds Senior and Second Lien Bonds 

from “Baa2/Baa3” to “Baa3/Ba1.” In June 2013, Moody’s further downgraded the ratings from 

“Baa3/Ba1” to “Ba1/Ba2” and then to “B1/B2.” In April 2013, Fitch downgraded the ratings of the 

Senior and Second Lien Bonds as well, from “A/A-” to “BBB+/BBB.” See additional disclosure in 

Note 17(c). 

(8) Pension Obligation Certificates (POCs) 

The Detroit Retirement Systems Funding Trust issued POCs for the purpose of funding certain unfunded 

accrued actuarial liabilities (UAAL) of the two retirement systems of the City, which include the General 

Retirement System (GRS) and the Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS). The GRS includes 

employees and retirees of certain governmental funds, proprietary funds (Transportation Fund, Sewage 

Disposal Fund, and Water Fund), and the Detroit Public Library, a discretely presented component unit of 

the City. 

A trust was created by the General Retirement System Service Corporation (GRSSC) and the Police and 

Fire Retirement System Service Corporation (PFRSSC), both blended component units of the City. The 

City entered into service contracts with the GRSSC and PFRSSC to facilitate the transaction. 

The POCs were allocated to the governmental activities and the Transportation Fund, Sewage Disposal 

Fund, and Water Fund based on those funds portion of the overall UAAL liquidated by the use of the 

POCs net proceeds. Since the Detroit Public Library is a discretely presented component unit of the City, 

its prorated portion of the POCs liability assumed was included in the balance of the POCs obligation 

recorded in the governmental activities. 

As of June 30, 2013, the Fund did not remit the required principal payments on the POCs totaling 

$1,250,905. This payment is considered callable and has been reflected as a current obligation as of 

June 30, 2013. 

In June 2013, Fitch downgraded the rating of the POCs from “CC” to “C” and then again from “C” to “D.” 

Moody’s downgraded the POC rating in November 2012 from “B3” to “Caa1.” Moody’s further 

downgraded the POC rating in June 2013 from “Caa1” to “Caa3” and then again from “Caa3” to “Ca.” In 

June 2013, Standard & Poor’s lowered its rating of the POC from “B” to “CCC-”, from “CCC-” to “CC,” 

and then further from “CC” to “D.” 
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The Fund’s portion of future principal and interest amounts for the POCs as of June 30, 2013 is as follows, 

to the extent not otherwise adjusted and/or discharged pursuant to a plan of adjustment confirmed in the 

Bankruptcy Case. See note 16(a). 

Investment
derivatives,

Principal Interest net Total

Year(s) ending June 30:
2014 $ 2,855,885   2,970,486   2,486,293   8,312,664   
2015 1,801,509   1,929,557   2,486,293   6,217,359   
2016 2,000,473   1,846,454   2,486,293   6,333,220   
2017 2,217,845   1,750,171   2,486,293   6,454,309   
2018 2,450,918   1,643,426   2,486,293   6,580,637   
2019–2023 13,728,876   6,679,844   12,004,025   32,412,745   
2024–2028 17,796,305   3,955,870   10,637,103   32,389,278   
2029–2033 23,948,991   2,984,992   5,367,846   32,301,829   
2034–2035 11,803,487   868,920   215,882   12,888,289   

Total $ 78,604,289   24,629,720   40,656,321   143,890,330   

 

(9) Risk Management 

The Fund is exposed to various types of risk of loss including torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of 

assets; errors or omissions; job-related illnesses or injuries to employees; natural disasters; and 

environmental occurrences. The Fund is self-insured for losses such as workers’ compensation, legal, 

disability benefits, and vehicular liabilities. Also included is the risk of loss associated with providing 

health, dental, and life insurance benefits to employees and retirees. 

The Fund, through the City, provides health and dental insurance benefits to employees and retirees 

through self-insured health plans that are administered by third-party administrators. The Fund does not 

purchase excess or stop-loss insurance for its self-insured health plans. 

The Fund purchases public official liability insurance, property insurance for certain properties, and 

general liability insurance for accidents occurring at certain properties. The Fund assumes a $250,000 

self-insured retention for any one loss or occurrence under its self-insured public official liability program. 

The Fund purchases excess liability insurance for its general liability for certain properties that provides 

per occurrence and aggregate protection. The Fund is fully self-insured for environmental-related liabilities 

and purchases no excess environmental liability insurance. 

There were no significant changes in the insurance coverage from coverage provided in the prior year for 

any of the above-described risks. 

A liability for claims is reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can 

be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. 

Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of recent claim settlement trends including 
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frequency and amount of payouts and other economic and social factors. The claim liabilities also include 

estimated costs for claim administration fees and outside legal and medical assistance costs. 

Changes in the balance of claim liabilities for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 were as follows: 

2013 2012

Balance at beginning of year $ 10,625,500    14,111,000   
Current year claims and changes in estimates 4,274,472    3,421,215   
Claims payments (5,065,986)   (6,906,715)  

Balance at end of year $ 9,833,986    10,625,500   

 

(10) Derivative Instruments 

The table below summarizes derivative instrument activity during the reporting period and balances at the 

end of the period: 

Changes in fair value Fair value at June 30, 2013 Notional

Classification Amount Classification Amount amount

Investment derivatives:

Pay-fixed interest rate Interest and

swaps: investment earnings $ 8,077,440   Long-term liabilities $ (16,489,465)  43,440,338  

 

As of June 30, 2013, the Fund determined that the pay-fixed interest rate swaps listed as investment 

derivative instruments no longer met the criteria for effectiveness. Accordingly, the change in fair value of 

the swaps noted in the above table, and previously deferred amounts totaling $14,179,042 were reported 

within investment revenue for the year ended June 30, 2013. 

The fair values of the interest rate swaps were estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method 

calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward rates 

implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then 

discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due 

on the date of each future net settlement on the swaps. 

(a) Objectives 

In order to better manage its interest rate exposure and to reduce the overall costs of its financings, 

the Fund has been allocated a portion of the City’s four separate pay-fixed, receive-variable interest 

rate swaps related to the POCs and the GRS. 

(b) Terms 

Certain key terms and fair values relating to the outstanding investment derivative instruments are 

presented below: 
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Swap Final

Notional Effective Rate Rate Fair termination maturity

Associated financing issue amount (1) date paid received value date of bonds

Investment derivatives:

Pension obligation certificates:

Taxable certificate of

participation SBSFPC-0009 (2) 14,792,275  6/12/2006 6.36% 3-MTH LIBOR +0.34% $ (5,828,055) 6/15/2034 6/15/2034

Taxable certificate of

participation SBSFPC-0012 (2) 6,927,894  6/12/2006 6.32 3-MTH LIBOR +0.30% (2,419,783) 6/15/2029 6/15/2029

Taxable certificate of

participation 37380341 (2) 14,792,275  6/12/2006 6.36 3-MTH LIBOR +0.34% (5,824,101) 6/15/2034 6/15/2034

Taxable certificate of

participation 37380351 (2) 6,927,894  6/12/2006 6.32 3-MTH LIBOR +0.30% (2,417,526) 6/15/2029 6/15/2029

Total 43,440,338  $ (16,489,465) 

(1) Notional amount balance as of June 30, 2013.

(2) Denotes the System’s allocation of the associated notional amount.

 

(c) Credit Risk 

Credit risk can be measured by actual market value exposure or theoretical exposure. When the fair 

value of any swap has a positive market value, then the Fund is exposed to the actual risk that the 

counterparty will not fulfill its obligations. As of June 30, 2013, the Fund had no net exposure to 

actual credit risk on its investment derivatives (without regard to collateral or other security 

arrangements) for any of its counterparties. The table below shows the credit quality ratings of the 

counterparties to each swap. The Fund uses two different counterparties, as one way of diversifying 

its credit risk. In addition, the swap agreements contain varying collateral agreements with the 

counterparties. The swaps require full collateralization of the fair value of the swap should the 

counterparty’s credit rating fall below certain rating levels by Fitch Ratings, Standard & Poor’s 

(S&P), and/or Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s). Collateral on all swaps is to be in the form of 

cash or U.S. government securities held by a third-party custodian. The Fund has not calculated 

theoretical credit exposure. 

Counterparty S&P Moody’s

SBS Financial Products Company, LLC:
Credit Support provided by Merrill Lynch Capital

Services, Inc. and guaranteed by Merrill Lynch & Co. A- Baa2
UBS, AG A A2

 

(d) Interest Rate Risk 

All investment derivatives are pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps. The Fund believes it 

has significantly reduced interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swaps, subject to the 

settlement with the swap counterparties described in note 10 (f) and the potential adjustment of the 

related POCs pursuant to a plan of adjustment confirmed in the Bankruptcy Case, or the invalidation 

thereof pursuant to the lawsuit commenced by the City on January 31, 2014 described in note 16. 
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(e) Basis Risk 

The Fund is exposed to basis risk when the variable interest received on a swap is based on a 

different index than the variable interest rate to be paid on the associated variable rate debt 

obligation. At June 30, 2013, the associated debt used the same index for the POCs (based on 

LIBOR) in the table above. As a result, there is no significant exposure to basis risk as of June 30, 

2013. 

(f) Termination Risk 

The Fund or counterparty may terminate any of the swaps if the other party fails to perform under 

the terms of the contract. In such cases, the Fund may owe or be due a termination payment 

depending on the fair value of the swap at that time. The termination payment due to a counterparty 

may not be equal to the fair value. If any of the swaps were terminated, the associated variable rate 

financings would no longer carry synthetic interest rates. 

On January 8, 2009, the City received formal notice from the Swap Counterparty to four of the eight 

Swap Agreements stating that an event had occurred, which, if not cured by the City, would 

constitute an Additional Termination Event. On January 14, 2009, the City also received formal 

notice from the Swap Counterparty to the four remaining Swap Agreements, stating that the 

applicable Swap Insurers had been downgraded below the thresholds set forth in the Swap 

Agreements. Under the Swap Agreements, such Swap Insurer downgrades, coupled with the 

downgrades of the POCs, if not cured by the City, constitute an Additional Termination Event. In 

June 2009, the City and the Counterparties agreed to an amendment to the Swap Agreements, and 

thereby eliminating the Additional Termination Event and the potential for an immediate demand for 

payment to the Swap Counterparties. As part of the amended Swap Agreements, the Counterparties 

waived their right to termination payments. Additionally, the City now directs its Wagering Tax 

revenues to a Trust as collateral for the quarterly payment to the Counterparties, increased the Swap 

rate by 10 basis points effective July 1, 2010, and agreed to other new termination events. The 

termination events under the amended Swap Agreement includes a provision granting the 

Counterparties the right to terminate the amended Swap Agreement if certain coverage levels of the 

Wagering Taxes over the required quarterly payment are not met or if POCs ratings are withdrawn, 

suspended, or downgraded below “Ba3” (or equivalent). In March 2012, the POCs received a credit 

downgrade below “Ba3.” In light of the debt rating declines of the City, a risk of a Swap Agreement 

Termination exists. 

In December 2013, the City had negotiated an agreement with the Counterparties to terminate the 

swaps, but the Bankruptcy Court rejected the agreement and the agreement was subsequently 

terminated. After the termination of this agreement, the City continued to negotiate with the swap 

counterparties in an effort to reduce the City’s obligations under the swap agreements. These 

negotiations resulted in the parties’ agreement on the principal terms of a settlement and plan support 

agreement pursuant to which, among other things, the City will pay, over time, the aggregate sum of 

$85 million in full satisfaction of the claims between the parties (the Plan Support Agreement). On 

March 3, 2014, the City filed a motion seeking the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of the Plan Support 

Agreement pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and Rule 9019 of the Federal Rules 
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of Bankruptcy Procedure (the Renewed Settlement Motion). On April 15, 2014, the Bankruptcy 

Court entered an order approving the Renewed Settlement Motion. 

(g) Rollover Risk 

The Fund is exposed to rollover risk on swaps that mature or may be terminated prior to the maturity 

of the associated financings. When these swaps terminate, or in the case of the termination option, if 

the counterparty exercises its option, the Fund will not realize the synthetic rate offered by the swaps 

on the underlying issues. The Fund is exposed to rollover risk on the GRS swaps should they be 

terminated prior to the maturity of the associated financings (POCs). 

(h) Foreign Currency Risk 

All derivatives are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, the Fund is not exposed to foreign 

currency risk. 

(i) Market Access Risk 

The Fund is exposed to market access risk on swaps in the event it will not be able to enter credit 

markets or in the event the credit will become more costly. 

(11) Pension Plan 

The City’s proposed plan of adjustment (see note 16 (a)) proposes significant changes to its pension plans. 

Confirmation of a plan of adjustment may materially restructure benefits available under such plans. 

Substantially all employees of the City, including employees of the Fund, are covered by a single-employer 

plan composed of a defined benefit with an optional employee-contributed annuity through the GRS. The 

GRS pays a monthly pension to qualified individuals upon retirement. The amount is based upon a 

combination of years of service and annual salary. 

(a) Plan Description 

The GRS is administered in accordance with the City of Detroit Charter and union contracts, which 

assign the authority to establish and amend contributions and benefit provisions to the GRS board of 

trustees. The GRS issues separate, stand-alone financial statements annually. A copy of these 

financial statements can be obtained at the Coleman A. Young Municipal Center, 2 Woodward Ave., 

Rm. 908, Detroit, Michigan, 48226. 

(b) Funding Policy 

The GRS funding policy provides for periodic employer contributions at actuarially determined rates 

that, expressed as percentages of annual covered payroll, are sufficient to accumulate sufficient 

assets to pay benefits when due. The contribution requirements are established and may be amended 

by the GRS board of trustees based on information provided by the GRS consulting actuary. The 

City’s contribution is set by the City Council in conjunction with its approval of the City’s annual 

budget based on information provided by the GRS consulting actuary. 
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The recommended contribution rate is determined by the GRS’ consulting actuary using the entry 

age normal actuarial cost-funding method. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute 

contribution requirements are the same as those used to compute the actuarial accrued liability. 

Based upon the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation, the actuarial required contribution rate for the 

Fund was 28.32% of covered payroll for the year ended June 30, 2013. Contributions for the Fund 

were $15,682,945 for the year ended June 30, 2013. 

Employees may also elect to contribute (a) 0%, (b) 3% of annual compensation up to the Social 

Security wage base and 5% of any excess over that, (c) 5%, or (d) 7% toward annuity savings. 

Contributions are voluntary for all union and nonunion employees. Contributions received from 

employees of the Fund were $2,325,357 during the year ended June 30, 2013. 

The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may be amended by 

the board of trustees in accordance with the City Charter, union contracts, and plan provisions. 

Members may retire with full benefits after attaining 30 years of service; age 55 with 30 years of 

service if hired after January 1, 1996; age 60 with 10 years of service; or age 65 with 8 years of 

service. Employees may retire after 25 years of service and collect an actuarially reduced retirement 

benefit. Monthly pension benefits, which are subject to certain minimum and maximum amounts, are 

determined according to fixed rates per year of credited service. Members of the GRS who separated 

prior to July 1, 1981, met the age and service requirements, and who did not withdraw their 

accumulated annuity contributions are generally eligible for a pension at the time they would have 

been eligible had they continued in City employment. Members who separate after July 1, 1981 are 

not required to leave their accumulated annuity contributions in the System. Pension benefits for all 

members of the GRS are increased annually by 2.25% of the original pension. 

The annual pension cost and the change in net pension asset allocated to the Fund for the year ended 

June 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Annual required contributions $ 12,183,894   
Interest on net pension asset (7,373,733)  
Adjustment to annual required

contribution 5,288,055   

Annual pension cost 10,098,216   

Contributions made (employer) 15,682,945   

Change in net pension
asset 5,584,729   

Net pension asset, beginning of year 90,677,096   

Net pension asset, end of year $ 96,261,825   

 



CITY OF DETROIT 

WATER FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

 29 (Continued) 

The actuarial methods and significant assumptions used to determine the annual required 

contributions (ARCs) for the year ended June 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Valuation date June 30, 2011
Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortization method Level percent
Remaining amortization period for unfunded accrued liabilities 30 years, open
Asset valuation method 7-year

smoothed
market

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 7.90%
Projected salary increases* 4.00–8.90
Cost-of-living adjustments 2.25

* Includes inflation rate of 4.00%.

 

(c) Three-Year Trend Information 

Annual Percentage Net

Fiscal year pension of APC pension

ended cost (APC) contributed asset

General Retirement System June 30, 2013 $ 10,098,216  155% $ 96,261,825  

June 30, 2012 4,387,834  150 90,677,096  

June 30, 2011 9,082,258  132 88,474,553  

 

(d) Funded Status and Funding Progress Based on Actuarial Assumptions of GRS 

The funded status of the GRS plan as of June 30, 2012 (the most recent actuarial valuations 

available) based on actuarial assumptions of GRS is as follows: 

Actuarial value of assets $ 2,806,489,202   
Actuarial accrued liability 3,644,172,577   

Unfunded (overfunded) AAL $ 837,683,375   

Funded ratio 77.0%
Covered payroll $ 257,992,420   
Ratio of UAAL/covered payroll 324.7%
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Significant actuarial assumptions used by GRS to determine the funded status for the year ended 

June 30, 2012 are as follows: 

Valuation date June 30, 2012

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Asset valuation method 7-year Smoothed Market

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 7.9%

Projected salary increases 4.0–8.9

Includes inflation at 4.0

Cost-of-living adjustments 2.25

 

(e) Funded Status and Funding Progress Based on Actuarial Assumptions of the City  

As discussed further in note 16, and in connection with the City’s filing of a voluntary petition under 

Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code, the City utilized different actuarial assumptions than GRS to 

determine the funded status of the plan. Specifically, the City believes that an investment rate of 

return of 7.0%, instead of 7.9% used by GRS is more achievable. Additionally, the City believes the 

actual market value of plan assets instead of a 7-year smoothed market value is more appropriate in 

measuring the funded status of the plan. The funded status of the plan as of June 30, 2012 (the most 

recent actuarial valuations available) based on the City’s actuarial assumptions is as follows: 

Actuarial value of assets $ 2,159,000,000   
Actuarial accrued liability 4,085,000,000   

Unfunded (overfunded) AAL $ 1,926,000,000   

Funded ratio 52.9%
Covered payroll $ 257,992,420   
Ratio of UAAL/covered payroll 746.5%

 

Significant actuarial assumptions used by the City to determine the funded status for the year ended 

June 30, 2012 are as follows: 

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Asset valuation method Actual market value

Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 7.0%

Projected salary increases 4.0–8.9

Includes inflation at 4.0

Cost-of-living adjustments 2.25
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(f) Administrative Expenses 

Actuarial investment management and bank trustee fees and expenses are included in the GRS plan’s 

administrative expenses when incurred. In addition, the GRS plan’s administrative salary, rent, 

accounting services, duplicating, telecommunications, and travel expenses are included in the GRS 

plan’s administrative expenses when incurred. 

(12) Other Postemployment Benefits 

(a) Plan Description 

The employees of the Fund participate in the Employee Health and Life Insurance Benefit Plan 

(Benefit Plan), which is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered by the City and City’s 

Retirement Systems. The Benefit Plan provides hospitalization, dental care, vision care, and life 

insurance to all officers and employees of the City who were employed on the day preceding the 

effective date of the Benefit Plan and who continue in the employ of the City on and after the 

effective date of the Benefit Plan. Retirees are allowed to enroll in any of the group plans offered by 

the City to active employees. The City provides healthcare coverage for substantially all retirees in 

accordance with terms set forth in union contracts or provisions found in Section 13, Article 8 of the 

Code of Ordinances. 

The healthcare benefit eligibility conditions for Fund employees hired before 1995 are 30 years of 

creditable service or age 60 and 10 years of creditable service or age 65 and 8 years of creditable 

service. The healthcare benefit eligibility conditions for Fund employees hired on after 1995 are 

age 55 and 30 years of creditable services, or age 60 and 10 years of creditable service or age 65 and 

8 years of creditable service. The City provides full healthcare coverage to Fund employees who 

retired prior to January 1, 1984, except for the Master Medical benefit that was added on to the 

coverage after that date. The Fund pays up to 90% of healthcare coverage if retired after January 1, 

1984; however, for Fund employees who retired between January 1, 1984 and June 30, 1994, the 

retiree share has been reduced by 50% by appropriations from City Council. The Fund also pays 

healthcare coverage for the spouse, under the same formulas noted above, as long as the spouse 

continues to receive a pension. The Fund does not pay health coverage for a new non-City retiree 

spouse. Dental and vision coverage is provided for the retiree and the spouse. 

The City does provide healthcare coverage to Fund employees that opt for early retirement. For Fund 

employees hired before 1995, the healthcare benefit eligibility conditions are 25 years of creditable 

service and employees hired after 1995 is age 55 and 25 years of creditable service. The coverage 

begins when the retiree would have been eligible for normal retirement. The Fund pays up to 90% of 

healthcare coverage for the retiree and the spouse. The Fund pays up to 90% of healthcare coverage 

for the spouse as long as the spouse continues to receive a pension. The City does not pay for 

healthcare coverage for a new non-City retiree spouse. Dental and vision coverage is provided for 

the retiree and the spouse. 

The City also provides healthcare coverage to Fund employees who meet certain healthcare benefit 

eligibility conditions at reduced rates for those that retire under the Deferred Retirement Benefits 

(Vested), the Death-in-Service Retirement Benefits Duty and Non-Duty Related, and the Disability 
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Retirement Benefits Duty and Non-Duty Related. Complementary healthcare coverage is provided 

by the City for those Fund retirees that are Medicare-Eligible. Fund retirees who opt out of the 

retiree healthcare coverage may obtain coverage at a later date. 

In addition to healthcare coverage, the City allows Fund retirees to continue life insurance coverage 

under the Group Insurance Protection Plan offered to active employees in accordance with 

Section 13, Article 9 of the Code of Ordinances. The basic life insurance coverage for Fund 

employees is based on the employee’s basic annual earnings to the next higher thousand dollars. The 

life insurance benefit amounts range from $3,750 to $12,500. 

The Supplemental Death Benefit Plan (Supplemental Plan) is a pre-funded single-employer defined 

benefit plan administered by the Employee Benefits Board of Trustees. The money is held in the City 

of Detroit Employee Benefit Trust and the City uses the trust fund to account for the Supplemental 

Plan. In accordance with Section 13, Article 8 of the Code of Ordinances, effective July 1, 1999 and 

prior to the member’s retirement from the City, a death benefit of $10,000 will be paid. After 

retirement of the member from the City, the amount of death benefits paid is based upon the retiree’s 

years of City service ranging from $1,860 (for 8 to 10 years of service) to $3,720 (for 30 years of 

service). For years of service beyond 30 years, $93.00 will be added per year for each additional year 

of service. 

There were 1,699 retirees eligible for benefits, as of June 30, 2013. These plans do not issue separate 

financial statements. 

Under the City’s proposed plan of adjustment in the Bankruptcy Case (see note 16(a)), the City 

intends to establish voluntary employees’ beneficiary association trust that provide life, sickness, 

accident, and other similar benefits to current and future retirees of the City and certain of their 

dependents who are eligible for benefits. Upon the effectiveness of such plan, if such plan is 

confirmed, the City would have no further responsibility to provide life insurance or death benefits to 

retirees. 

(b) Funding Policy 

Employee Health and Life Insurance Benefit Plan – The cost of benefits for the Benefit Plan, 

which is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, for the year ended June 30, 2013 for the Fund retiree’s 

was as follows: 

Benefits Fund cost Retiree cost Total cost

Hospitalization $ 10,214,128   2,336,533   12,550,661   
Dental 466,535   65,999   532,534   
Vision 82,750   10,832   93,582   
Life insurance 11,113   4,829   15,942   

$ 10,774,526   2,418,193   13,192,719   
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Supplemental Death Benefit Plan – The cost of benefits for the Supplemental Plan, which is a 

pre-funded plan with the funds held in the City of Detroit Employee Benefit Trust, for the year ended 

June 30, 2013 for the Fund retiree’s was as follows: 

Benefit Fund cost Retiree cost Total cost

Supplemental death benefit plan $ 11,261    1,453    12,714   

 

The City of Detroit Employee Benefit Trust paid death benefits in the amount of $90,743 for the 

Fund retirees for the year ended June 30, 2013. 

(c) Annual OPEB Costs and Net OPEB Obligation 

The Fund’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the 

annual required contribution (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the 

parameters of GASB Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on 

an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial 

accrued liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years. 

The following table shows the components of the Fund’s annual OPEB cost for the year ended 

June 30, 2013, the amount actually contributed to the plans, and changes in the Fund’s OPEB 

obligation for the retirees of the Fund: 

Employee
health and life Supplemental

insurance death benefit
benefit plan plan Total

Annual required contribution (ARC) $ 27,588,287   89,411   27,677,698  
Interest on net OPEB obligation 2,125,552   8,218   2,133,770  
Adjustment to ARC (1,771,292)  (5,479)  (1,776,771) 

Annual OPEB cost
(expense) 27,942,547   92,150   28,034,697  

Contributions made (10,774,526)  (11,261)  (10,785,787) 

Changes in net OPEB
obligation 17,168,021   80,889   17,248,910  

Net OPEB obligation, beginning of
year 53,138,799   164,366   53,303,165  

Net OPEB obligation, end of year $ 70,306,820   245,255   70,552,075  
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The annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to each plan, and the net 

OPEB obligation for the three most recent fiscal years ended June 30 for the retirees of the Fund 

were as follows: 

Percentage

Annual of annual Net

OPEB Actual OPEB cost OPEB

Year ended cost contributions contributed obligation

Employee Health and Life

Insurance Benefit Plan June 30, 2013 $ 27,942,546 10,774,526  38.6% $ 70,306,820 

June 30, 2012 22,375,284 9,705,471  43.4 53,138,799 

June 30, 2011 21,925,262 9,368,052  42.7 40,468,986 

Supplemental Death

Benefit Plan June 30, 2013 92,150 11,261  12.2% 245,255 

June 30, 2012 76,339 21,913  28.7 164,366 

June 30, 2011 89,444 12,164  13.6 109,940 

 

(d) Funded Status and Funding Progress 

Employee Health and Life Insurance Benefit Plan (Benefit Plan) – As of June 30, 2011, the most 

recent actuarial valuation date for the Benefit Plan, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits related 

to all current and former City employees was $5,718,286,228, and the actuarial value of assets was 

$0, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $5,718,286,228. The covered 

payroll (annual payroll of all active City employees covered by the plan) was $444,358,728 and the 

ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 1,287 percent. The funded status related to the retirees 

of the Fund was not available. 

Supplemental Death Benefit Plan (Supplemental Plan) – As of June 30, 2011, the most recent 

actuarial valuation date for the Supplemental Plan, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits related 

to all current and former City employees was $34,564,960 and the actuarial value of assets was 

$25,681,765, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $8,883,195. The 

covered payroll (annual payroll of all active City employees covered by the plan) was $444,358,728 

and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 2.0%. The funded status related to the retirees 

of the Fund was not available. 

Actuarial valuations of the ongoing plans involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 

assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 

assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined 

regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are 

subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates 

are made about the future. 

A schedule of funding progress, which presents multiyear trend information about whether the 

actuarial value of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 

liability for benefits, is included in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
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(e) Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 

understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the 

time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and 

the plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that 

are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the 

actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

The actuarial methods and significant assumptions used to determine the annual required 

contributions for the year ended June 30, 2013 were as follows: 

Employee
health and Supplemental

life insurance death
benefit plan benefit plan

Valuation date June 30, 2011 June 30, 2011
Actuarial cost method Individual entry-age Individual entry-age
Amortization method Level percent Level dollar
Amortization period for

unfunded actuarial accrued liabilities 30 years, open 30 years, open
Asset valuation method N/A 3 year smoothed market

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 4.0% 5.0%
Projected salary increases* 4.0 N/A
Healthcare cost trend rate 8.5% for 2013, N/A

grading down
to 4.5% in 2021

and 4.0% in 2022
and beyond

* Includes inflation rate of 4.0%.

 

In the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation for the Employee Health and Life Insurance Benefit Plan, 

the mortality tables used by the City’s plan to evaluate death benefits to be paid for retirees was 

110% of the RP 2000 Combined Male and 110% of the RP 2000 Combined Female table setback 

two years. The City’s plan used an annual rate of retirement of 50%, initially, reduced to an ultimate 

rate of 20% after age 70 for General City. 

In the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation for the Supplemental Death Benefit Plan, the mortality tables 

used by the City’s plan to evaluate death benefits to be paid for Fund retirees was 120% of the RP 

2000 Combined Male and 120% of the RP 2000 Combined Female table setback two years. The 

City’s plan used an annual rate of retirement of 50%, initially, reduced to an ultimate rate of 20% 

after age 70 for General City. 
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(13) Due from (to) Other Funds 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds and other City 

funds for goods provided or services rendered. Related receivables and payables are classified as “due 

from other funds” or “due to other funds,” respectively, on the statement of fund net assets, will be settled 

within one year, and are summarized as follows as of June 30, 2013: 

Due from other funds:
General Fund $ 5,467,779   
Other governmental funds 571,530   
General Retirement System Service Corporation 29,228   
Sewage Disposal Fund 42,266,431   
Fiduciary 1,680,314   

Total due from other funds $ 50,015,282   

Due to other funds:
General Fund $ 7,104,695   
Other governmental funds 1,168,053   

Total due to other funds $ 8,272,748   

 

(14) Capital Improvement Program 

The Fund is engaged in a variety of projects that are a part of its five-year Capital Improvement Program 

(the Program). The total cost of this program is anticipated to be approximately $519 million through fiscal 

year 2018. The Program is being primarily financed from revenues of the Fund and proceeds from the 

issuance of revenue bonds. 

The total amount of construction contract commitments outstanding at June 30, 2013 was approximately 

$112.3 million. 

(15) Contingencies 

The City is subject to various governmental environmental laws and regulations. GASB Statement No. 49, 

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, established accounting and 

financial reporting standards for pollution (including contamination) remediation obligations, which are 

obligations to address the current or potential detrimental effects of existing pollution by participating in 

pollution remediation activities such as site assessments and cleanups. The standard excludes pollution 

prevention or control obligations with respect to current operations, and future pollution remediation 

activities that are required upon retirement of an asset, such as landfill closure and postclosure care. The 

Fund determined that there were no estimated pollution remediation obligations to be recorded at June 30, 

2013. 

The Fund is also a defendant in numerous alleged claims, lawsuits, billing disputes, and other stated and 

pending demands. The Fund and the City’s Legal Department have estimated a reserve, which is included 

in the accompanying basic financial statements, for the potential outcome of such claims or the amount of 
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potential damages in the event of an unfavorable outcome for each of the above contingencies. The Fund’s 

management and the City’s Legal Department believe that any differences in reserved amounts and final 

settlement, after consideration of claims covered by insurance, resulting from such litigation will not 

materially impact the Fund’s financial position or results of operations. 

The City holds various commercial insurance policies to cover other potential loss exposures. 

(16) Bankruptcy and Subsequent Events 

(a) Bankruptcy 

The City of Detroit was insolvent on June 30, 2013 as the General Fund liabilities exceeded its assets 

by $73.0 million and cash and investments on hand totaling $102.2 million were insufficient to meet 

obligations due. The City’s accumulated unassigned General Fund deficit was $132.6 million on 

June 30, 2013. On June 15, 2013, due to liquidity constraints, the City did not make a principal and 

interest payment totaling $41.0 million ($33.3 million due from the General Fund) due on its pension 

obligation certificates of participation (POCs). In addition, as of June 30, 2013, the City did not 

make a payment of $105.6 million ($96.9 million General Fund) of pension contributions due to the 

General Retirement and Police and Fire Retirement systems. Also, the City’s General Fund owed the 

Other Post Employment Benefits Fund $44.4 million on June 30, 2013. Furthermore, as of June 30, 

2013, the City’s General Fund has utilized restricted funds of $69.6 million from the Risk 

management and Motor Vehicle accounts and the Solid Waste Fund to cover other obligations.  

Over the past several decades, the City has experienced significant economic and social challenges 

that have negatively impacted employment, business conditions and quality of life. Three of the 

City’s largest revenue streams – distributable state aid, property taxes, and municipal income taxes – 

are especially susceptible during times of major economic downturns and have declined in recent 

years due to high levels of unemployment. Population decline and home foreclosures have adversely 

impacted City property valuations and property and income tax collections. Further stressing the 

City’s liquidity are legacy costs such as retiree health care and debt service. As the City’s tax base 

and revenues decline, the legacy costs become an increasing percentage of the General Fund budget 

reducing funding available for essential services such as police and fire.  

In February 2013, a financial review team appointed by the Governor of the State of Michigan 

determined that a local government financial emergency existed in the City. On March 14, 2013, the 

Local Emergency Financial Assistance Loan Board appointed Kevyn Orr as the emergency financial 

manager of the City in accordance with Public Act 72 of 1990, the Local Government and School 

District Fiscal Responsibility Act. On March 28, 2013, Public Act 436 of 2012, the Local Financial 

Stability and Choice Act, took effect which replaced Public Act 72. Public Act 436 specified that an 

emergency financial manger appointed under Public Act 72 of 1990 and serving on the effective date 

of Public Act 436 of 2012 would continue to serve under the new act. Public Act 436 changed the 

title of the emergency financial manager to emergency manager and expanded the powers of the 

emergency manager to include the ability to recommend to the Governor that the City file a petition 

for relief under chapter 9 of title 11 of the United State Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”). 
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On July 18, 2013, the Governor delivered the Authorization Letter to the emergency manager and the 

State treasurer authorizing the City to commence a bankruptcy case under Chapter 9 of the 

Bankruptcy Code. In the Authorization Letter, the Governor agreed with the emergency manager that 

Chapter 9 offers the only feasible alternative to fix the City’s finances and to complete a sustainable 

restructuring for the benefit of Detroit’s approximately 700,000 residents. Based on the emergency 

manager’s Recommendation Letter, the Governor determined that: (a) the City cannot meet its 

obligations to its citizens; (b) the City cannot meet its basic obligations to its creditors; (c) the City’s 

failure to meet its obligations to its citizens is the primary cause of its inability to meet its obligations 

to its creditors; and (d) the only feasible path to ensuring the City will be able to meet obligations in 

the future is to have a successful restructuring under the federal bankruptcy process. 

Upon receiving the Authorization Letter, the emergency manager issued an order directing the 

commencement of the City’s Chapter 9 bankruptcy case. Consistent with these approvals, on July 18, 

2013, the City filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy 

Court, which case is captioned In re City of Detroit, Michigan, Case No. 13-53846 (Bankr. E.D. 

Mich.). 

On July 19, 2013, Bankruptcy Judge Steven W. Rhodes was assigned to the Bankruptcy Case by the 

Chief Judge of the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit. 

On December 5, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court entered (a) the Eligibility Order stating that the City is 

eligible to be a debtor under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code and (b) the Order for Relief entitling 

the City to proceed under Chapter 9. 

Notices of appeal of the Eligibility Order were filed by a number of entities, all of whom also filed 

petitions for permission to appeal the Eligibility Order directly to the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Sixth Circuit (the Sixth Circuit). The Sixth Circuit granted these parties’ petitions on 

February 21, 2014, and a briefing schedule has been established. All appeals of the Eligibility Order 

pending in the District Court have been stayed pending the Sixth Circuit’s disposition of the various 

appeals pending before it. By law, the Bankruptcy Case is not stayed pending the resolution of the 

various appeals of the Eligibility Order. 

Under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code, actions by creditors to collect indebtedness the City owed 

prior to the Petition Date were stayed, and certain other pre-petition contractual obligations may not 

be enforced against the City. The Chapter 9 filing has enabled the City to continue to operate and 

provide services to its residents by freezing certain pre-petition debts until a plan of adjustment can 

be approved. The City has been paying certain pre-petition liabilities, including certain employee 

salaries, wages, benefits, and other obligations, during the Bankruptcy Case. Other unsecured 

obligations owed by the City at July 18, 2013 are subject to compromise in the bankruptcy process. 

The City has stopped making payments related to unsecured funded debt and legacy liabilities, with 

the exception of retiree healthcare benefits and certain vendors providing essential goods and 

services. 
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Since filing the Bankruptcy Case, the emergency manager has coordinated the City’s legal strategy 

related to bankruptcy with his professional advisors. Certain of the primary activities to date in the 

Bankruptcy Case are summarized below: 

Administrative Matters 

Since the Petition Date, the emergency manager has taken steps to preserve the benefits and 

protections afforded by the automatic stay imposed by Sections 362 and 922 of the Bankruptcy Code 

(the Chapter 9 Stay). For example, at the outset of the Bankruptcy Case, the City obtained orders of 

the Bankruptcy Court (a) confirming the application of the Chapter 9 Stay to the City and its officers 

and inhabitants and (b) extending the protections of the Chapter 9 Stay to, among others, Nondirector 

City employees and certain State officials. 

Upon a motion filed by the City, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order on November 21, 2013 

establishing certain bar dates for the filing of proof of claims. Also upon a motion of the City, the 

Bankruptcy Court entered an order on December 24, 2013, approving certain alternative dispute 

resolution procedures to facilitate the resolution of certain contingent, unliquidated and/or disputed 

claims against the City that arose prior to the Petition Date. The City’s proposed plan of adjustment 

establishes a claims resolution process that will enable the City to resolve the claims that will be 

addressed pursuant to such plan. 

Retiree Committee 

Since the Petition Date, the emergency manager has continued to participate in negotiations with the 

City’s creditors and other interested parties with the goal of reaching consensus, to the fullest extent 

possible, on the terms of a plan of adjustment. In support of these discussions, at the outset of the 

Bankruptcy Case, the City requested the appointment of an official committee of retired employees 

(the Retiree Committee) to represent the interests of retirees in these negotiations. Prior to the 

commencement of the Bankruptcy Case, no single party was empowered to represent all of the 

City’s retirees, who hold billions of dollars of legacy claims that must be addressed in any 

restructuring. On August 2, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order directing the appointment 

of the Retiree Committee, which was formed on August 22, 2013. Since that time, the City has 

conducted discussions with the Retiree Committee and its advisors regarding the City’s restructuring 

and the treatment of retirees’ claims, which discussions have resulted in an agreement with respect to 

retiree claims for pension and medical benefits under the plan of adjustment. 

Swap Settlement 

Prior to the Petition Date, the emergency manager reached a consensual resolution with the 

counterparties to the City’s interest rate swap agreements (the Swap Counterparties) that would, 

among other things, allow the City to terminate its obligations under the swap agreements in 

exchange for approximately $235.0 million (the Settlement Payment). This agreement was 

memorialized in a Forbearance and Optional Termination Agreement (the FOTA) between the City 

and the Swap Counterparties. On the Petition Date, the City filed a motion with the Bankruptcy 

Court to assume the FOTA under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code and approve the parties’ 

settlement under Rule 9019 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (the Settlement Motion). 
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There was significant opposition to the Settlement Motion, which resulted in litigation regarding, 

among other things, the appropriateness of the compromises in the FOTA, the Swap Counterparties’ 

ability to consummate the FOTA and the City’s ability to make the Settlement Payment. An 

evidentiary hearing on the Settlement Motion commenced on December 17, 2013. On December 18, 

2013, the Bankruptcy Court ordered the City and the Swap Counterparties back to mediation to 

discuss a reduction of the Settlement Payment. On December 24, 2013, the parties agreed to fix the 

Settlement Payment at the reduced amount of $165 million. The hearing on the Settlement Motion 

was concluded on January 13, 2014, and, on January 17, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court issued an order 

denying the Settlement Motion. On February 6, 2014, the City filed a notice of termination of the 

FOTA. 

After the termination of the FOTA, the City continued to negotiate with the Swap Counterparties in 

an effort to reduce the City’s obligations under the swap agreements. These negotiations resulted in 

the parties’ agreement on the principal terms of a settlement and plan support agreement pursuant to 

which, among other things, the City will pay, over time, the aggregate sum of $85 million in full 

satisfaction of the claims between the parties (the Plan Support Agreement). On March 3, 2014, the 

City filed a motion seeking the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of the Plan Support Agreement 

pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and Rule 9019 of the Federal Rules of 

Bankruptcy Procedure (the Renewed Settlement Motion). On April 15, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court 

entered an order approving the Renewed Settlement Motion, which order was subsequently appealed 

by certain parties in interest. 

Mediation 

The Bankruptcy Court established a mediation program to facilitate the negotiation of restructuring 

issues. In particular, Judge Rhodes appointed Judge Gerald E. Rosen, Chief Judge for the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, as the lead mediator for the City’s 

Bankruptcy Case. In turn, Judge Rosen appointed six additional mediators, each focusing on 

different elements of the City’s restructuring and reorganization activities. To date there have been 

multiple mediation sessions and numerous written submissions related to, among other things, the 

City’s core restructuring initiatives outlined in the City of Detroit Proposal for Creditors, dated 

June 14, 2013; issues arising in connection with the City’s general obligation debt; labor and pension 

matters; and matters related to the future of the DWSD. 

POC Litigation 

On January 31, 2014, the City commenced an adversary proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court by 

filing a complaint against the Service Corporations and the funding trusts (the Funding Trusts) that 

issued the POCs, alleging that the 2005 and 2006 transactions and agreements resulting in the sale of 

the POCs to the public was invalid, illegal and unenforceable because the $1.5 billion of debt 

incurred by the City exceeded the City’s statutory debt limit and was not incurred in conformity with 

other state laws. The complaint seeks (a) a declaratory judgment that the POC transactions are 

illegal, void and of no effect whatsoever; (b) a declaratory judgment that any Claims based on the 

City’s obligations under the Service Contracts on account of the POCs should be disallowed 

pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 502(b)(1); and (c) an injunction prohibiting the defendants from taking any 



CITY OF DETROIT 

WATER FUND 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2013 

 41 (Continued) 

action to require the City to make payments or provide distributions under a plan of adjustment on 

account of the POCs. 

The Funding Trusts answered the complaint on March 17, 2014, (a) denying the City’s allegations 

that the POC transactions caused the City to exceed its statutory debt limit and created debt not in 

conformity with other state laws, (b) raising several affirmative defenses and (c) asserting several 

counterclaims against the City. On April 10, 2014, the City moved to dismiss substantially all of the 

counterclaims brought by the Funding Trusts. Also on March 17, 2014, motions to intervene in the 

adversary proceeding were filed by Financial Guarantee Insurance Company, an insurer of the POCs, 

and several POC holders. On April 10, 2014, the Service Corporations moved to dismiss the 

complaint as to them, arguing primarily that the City lacked standing to bring suit against the Service 

Corporations. A hearing was held on the motions to intervene and the Service Corporations’ motion 

to dismiss on May 15, 2014. On June 30, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order denying the 

Service Corporations’ motion to dismiss and granting the motions to intervene for the limited 

purpose of defending against the City’s claims in the complaint. 

Plan of Adjustment 

The Bankruptcy Court set a deadline of March 1, 2014 for the City to file a plan of adjustment in the 

Bankruptcy Case. On February 21, 2014, the City filed its plan of adjustment and a related disclosure 

statement. On March 31, 2014, the City filed its amended plan of adjustment and amended disclosure 

statement. On April 16, 2014, the City filed its second amended plan of adjustment and second 

amended disclosure statement. On April 25, 2014, the City filed its third amended plan of adjustment 

and third amended disclosure statement. On May 5, 2014, the City filed its fourth amended plan of 

adjustment and fourth amended disclosure statement. Also on May 5, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court 

entered an order approving the disclosure statement and the mailing of the disclosure statement and 

plan of adjustment to creditors to vote on. The plan of adjustment (as it has been and may be further 

amended, modified, or supplemented, the Plan) is subject to further change. 

On July 21, 2014, Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC filed a declaration regarding the solicitation 

and tabulation of votes on, and the results of voting with respect to, the fourth amended plan of 

adjustment. Those impaired classes that voted to accept the Plan included the PFRS pension claims, 

GRS pension claims, OPEB claims, COP Swap claims and Unlimited Tax General Obligation Bond 

claims. Those impaired classes that voted to reject the Plan included the COP claims and certain 

classes of DWSD debt. A hearing to consider confirmation of the Plan is scheduled to commence on 

August 14, 2014. The Plan is subject to challenge by creditors or to modification made as the result 

of issues that may be raised by the Bankruptcy Court. Copies of the Plan and the related disclosure 

statement can be found on the City’s website at: 

http://www.detroitmi.gov/EmergencyManager/BankruptcyChapter9.aspx. 

The Plan provides a framework to restructure the City’s long-term obligations such that the City can 

exit bankruptcy and return to fiscal stability. It provides for the adjustment of secured and unsecured 

debt and outlines proposed reinvestment initiatives. The Plan proposes that unsecured nonretiree 

creditors with whom the City has not reached a settlement generally will receive an approximately 

10%-13% recovery on their claims. The Plan also proposes for the City to invest approximately 

http://www.detroitmi.gov/EmergencyManager/BankruptcyChapter9.aspx
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$1.4 billion over 10 years to, among other things: (1) comprehensively address and remediate 

residential urban blight, (2) improve the operating performance and infrastructure of its police, fire, 

EMS and transportation departments (among other departments), (3) modernize its information 

technology systems on a City-wide basis and (4) improve services at all levels to Detroit’s citizens. 

The Plan includes settlements that the City believes will inure to the benefit of the City’s creditors 

and its residents. The City settled controversial and sensitive issues relating to the Detroit Institute of 

Arts, which settlement is expected to yield at least $466 million to provide a source of recovery for 

the approximately 33,000 individuals who participate in the City’s two Retirement Systems. The 

State of Michigan is also participating in this settlement and will contribute the value of $350 million 

to the City’s two retirement systems in exchange for, among other things, the receipt of releases from 

pension claimants. 

The Plan also proposes a reduction in healthcare benefits for retirees. The Plan provides for the 

establishment of two VEBAs (Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association) in accordance with 

Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that would provide healthcare, 

life and other benefits to beneficiaries and certain of their dependents. The “Detroit Police and Fire 

VEBA” would be established for retired police and fire uniform employees and the “Detroit General 

VEBA” would be established for the retirees in the General Retirement System. The two VEBAs 

will each be governed by a board of trustees who will be responsible for management of the assets 

held by the VEBA, administration, and determination of the level of distribution of benefits to the 

beneficiaries. The Plan contemplates that the City will distribute to both VEBAs an appropriate share 

of New B Notes, which will be issued pursuant to the Plan. Under the Plan, the City will have no 

responsibility following the effectiveness thereof to provide life insurance or death benefits to 

current or former employees. 

The total gain expected to occur by adjusting the City’s debts pursuant to the proposed Plan is not 

reasonably measured or estimated, given that settlements with all creditors have not been reached 

and the Plan has not been confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court as of the date of this report. The Plan 

does not contemplate termination of services, discontinuance of operations, or termination of the 

City. 

UTGO Settlement 

On April 9, 2014, the City and three bond insurers agreed to a settlement in principle regarding the 

unlimited tax general obligation bonds (UTGO) that they insure, which UTGO bonds had a total 

principal value of $369.1 million at June 30, 2013. The settlement, which is subject to Bankruptcy 

Court approval pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, would resolve, among other disputes, certain 

litigation pending in the Bankruptcy Court regarding the UTGO bonds. Pursuant to the settlement, 

holders of UTGO bonds will transfer a portion of such bonds having a principal amount of 

$287.5 million in consideration for $279.6 million of new UTGO bonds issued by the Michigan 

Finance Authority. The insurers of the prior UTGO bonds will receive $7.9 million of the new 

UTGO bonds which will aggregate $287.5 million in principal amount. The new bonds will be 

secured by the City’s pledge of UTGO bond ad valorem tax levy and the distributable state aid 

(DSA) that the City is entitled to receive. The City’s plan of adjustment, if approved, will provide 
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that the proceeds of ad valorem taxes pledged and collected to pay the remaining principal and 

related interest of the original UTGO bonds—which will remain outstanding and not be exchanged 

for new bonds—will be assigned by the Plan to support the City’s two pension plans primarily for 

additional distributions to those retirees who meet certain income eligibility criteria. 

Pension Settlements 

The Plan provides that, on the effective date of the Plan, the City will assume the obligations related 

to the already accrued benefits under the GRS pension plan and the PFRS pension plan as those 

benefits will have been modified in the Plan. This means that the City will not seek to terminate the 

GRS or the PFRS, although their respective pension plans will be closed to new participants, and 

vested active employees will not continue to accrue additional pension benefits under the terms and 

conditions of the current plans, i.e., the two plans will be “frozen.” The City will continue to retain 

the responsibility to fund all amounts necessary to provide the adjusted (reduced) pension benefits to 

its employees and retirees who will have accrued benefits in either of the GRS or PFRS pension 

plans as of the effective date of the Plan, although the City’s contributions will be fixed during the 

period ending June 30, 2023. Thereafter, the City will be required to contribute all amounts 

necessary to fund the modified accrued pensions regardless of the actual future investment 

performance of the pension plan assets. Although, pursuant to the Plan, the City will provide 

necessary funding to support the reduced pension benefit levels, the level of funding necessary to 

support those reduced pension benefits will depend upon, among other things, future actuarial 

assumptions, changes in retiree mortality and investment returns. Using the assumptions adopted by 

the City in proposing the Plan, between 2024 and 2053, the City will contribute approximately 

$2.816 billion, the present value of which is approximately $1.038 billion. 

To reduce the risk that the City has experienced from the past investment and discretionary benefit 

allowance practices of the GRS and PFRS pension funds, which contributed to the current 

underfunding in each of the pension funds, and to ensure that pension funding obligations do not 

impair the Plan objective of assuring that the City will have sufficient funds to operate and to 

improve infrastructure and public safety, the City has developed the following pension restructuring 

approach: (a) the City has set a goal of achieving a 70% and 75% funded status for GRS and PFRS, 

respectively, based upon an assumed investment rate of return of 6.75%, by June 30, 2023 and based 

further on the market value of assets, not a smoothed value of assets; and (b) the City has determined 

the cash contributions it can reasonably afford to make to each pension plan during the period ending 

June 30, 2023. Based on these parameters, which were chosen to achieve predictable pension 

contributions over the long term and sufficient pension funding to provide benefits as modified, and 

to align the City’s required future cash contributions to the plans with its reasonably projected 

revenues, the City has determined what pension benefit cuts are necessary from the participants in 

each pension plan. 

Under the Plan, claims against the City are divided into different classes. Claims related to PFRS 

pensions are in Class 10. Claims related to GRS pensions are in Class 11. Specifically, the 

calculation of the amounts of the allowed PFRS pension claims in Class 10 and the allowed GRS 

pension claims in Class 11 utilizes among, other assumptions, a 6.75% discount rate to value 

liabilities and a 6.75% investment return rate for future growth rate of assets. This investment return 
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rate is less than (a) the net 8% investment return rate historically utilized by PFRS in calculating the 

actual underfunding of the PFRS pension plan and (b) the net 7.9% investment return rate 

historically utilized by GRS in calculating the actuarial underfunding of the GRS pension plan. In 

both cases the City has utilized the lower rate as a measure to ensure that both GRS and PFRS utilize 

prudent and conservative investment policies going forward to protect the assets in both pension 

plans from unnecessary and imprudent risk of depletion to the detriment of the plan beneficiaries and 

also to insulate the City—given its limited cash resources—from unforeseen and unbudgeted 

increases in required future contributions to the pension plans that could cause the City to experience 

budget deficits in the future. 

With respect to PFRS pension claims, the Plan provides for two alternatives for pension benefits. 

The Plan will not reduce monthly pension payments for holders of PFRS pension claims, but it will 

either reduce annual cost of-living adjustments (COLAs or escalators) by 55% or eliminate them 

entirely, depending upon whether certain outside funding is received from the settlement with the 

State (the State Settlement) and the settlement regarding the Detroit Institute of Arts (the DIA 

Settlement). The State Settlement and the DIA Settlement are subject to a number of conditions 

precedent, including, but not limited to, the retirees of both pension systems voting to accept the 

Plan. As noted above, holders of PFRS pension claims voted to accept the Plan. 

Similarly, with respect to GRS pension claims, the Plan provides for two alternatives for pension 

benefits. If the outside funding is received from the State Settlement and the DIA Settlement, 

monthly GRS pension benefits will be reduced by 4.5% and COLAs will be eliminated. If the 

outside funding from the State Settlement and the DIA Settlement is not received, monthly 

GRS pension benefits will be reduced by 27% and COLAs will be eliminated. In either case, holders 

of GRS pension claims who participated in the Annuity Savings Fund during the period July 1, 2003 

to June 30, 2013, also will be subject to the recoupment by the City of excess interest credited to 

Annuity Savings Funds accounts during that period. As noted above, holders of GRS pension claims 

voted to accept the Plan. The State Settlement and DIA Settlement remain subject to a number of 

other conditions precedent. 

Pursuant to the DIA Settlement, (a) certain charitable foundations and funders of the nonprofit 

corporation (DIA Corp.) that operates the Detroit Institute of Arts (collectively with DIA Corp., 

the DIA Funding Parties) have committed to assist in the funding of the City’s restructured legacy 

pension obligations and (b) the City has agreed to enter into certain transactions that will cause the 

DIA assets to remain in the City in perpetuity and to otherwise make the DIA assets available for the 

benefit of the residents on the City and State of Michigan. The DIA Settlement will be funded as 

follows: (a) an irrevocable commitment of at least $366 million by the charitable foundations; and 

(b) in addition to its continuing commitments outside of the DIA Settlement, an irrevocable 

commitment from DIA Corp. to raise at least $100 million from its donors, the payment of which 

$100 million will be guaranteed by DIA Corp. Upon the closing of the DIA Settlement transaction, 

the City shall irrevocably transfer the DIA assets to the DIA Corp., as trustee, to be held in perpetual 

charitable trust, and within the City limits, for the primary benefit of the residents of the City and 

citizens of the State. 
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On the effective date of the Plan, if the conditions precedent to the State Settlement are satisfied or 

otherwise addressed, the City and the State will consummate the State Settlement. On the later of 

(a) the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in the definitive documents governing the 

State Settlement have been satisfied or (b) 60 days after the effective date of the Plan, the State or the 

State’s authorized agent will contribute the net present value of $350 million using a discount rate of 

6.75% to GRS and PFRS for the benefit of the holders of pension claims. The State Settlement 

requires that the Plan provide for the release of the State and certain related entities by each holder of 

a pension claim from all liabilities arising from or related to the City and the Bankruptcy Case. 

The consummation of both the DIA Settlement and the State Settlement are subject to a number of 

conditions, as set forth in the Plan. If the DIA Settlement or State Settlement is not consummated, 

the treatment of pension claims in Classes 10 and 11 under the Plan will reflect larger cuts to pension 

benefits 

Actuarial Assumptions of the City versus the Retirement Systems for the Actuarial Calculation 

of the UAAL 

The unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) with respect to the GRS plan and PFRS plans is 

based on the Retirement Systems’ actuarial valuations. The City believes that the UAAL amounts 

reported by the Retirement Systems were based on various actuarial assumptions and methods that 

were favorable to reducing the City’s required contributions to the Systems. The assumptions are 

further discussed in note 11 (d) and (e) and included: (1) annual rates of return on investments 

(GRS – 7.9%; PFRS – 8.0%) that were overly optimistic in light of the Retirement Systems’ diverse 

mix of assets/investments and the inability of the City to budget for and fund pension investment loss 

in the event that investment returns were not achieved; (2) the “smoothing” (reallocation over a 

period of years) of asset gains and losses over a seven-year period, which masks the funding 

shortfall; and (3) the use of 29-year (PFRS) and 30-year (GRS) amortization periods for funding 

UAAL – which is applied anew each year to the full amount of unfunded liability – that allows 

unfunded liabilities to continue to grow rapidly as a result of the compounding effect. 

As set forth in the City’s disclosure statement with respect to its proposed plan of adjustment, the 

City estimated that the combined UAAL for the Retirement Systems was $3.474 billion as of 

June 30, 2013, consisting of $2.037 billion in UAAL for GRS and $1.437 billion in UAAL for 

PFRS. The City’s actuary, Milliman Inc., calculated this UAAL using the June 30, 2012 actuarial 

valuations performed by the Retirement Systems, rolling forward the actuarial accrued liability to 

June 30, 2013 using the City’s actuarial assumptions discussed in the previous paragraph, and using 

the actual market fair value of the Retirement Systems’ assets as of June 30, 2013. 

Liabilities Subject to Compromise 

Unsecured obligations owed by the City at July 18, 2013 are subject to compromise in the 

bankruptcy process. Liabilities subject to compromise at June 30, 2013 include the following: 
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Business-type Activities

Total Sewage Automobile Non-Major Total

Governmental Disposal Transportation Water Parking Proprietary Primary

Activities Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Government (a)

Long-term obligations subject to compromise:

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

GRS (note 11 (d)) 341,752,000 163,542,720 140,583,000 157,129,280 —  —  803,007,000

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability 147,216,398 —  —  —  —  —  147,216,398

OPEB Employee Health and Life

Insurance Benefit Plan (note 12 (d)) 4,435,014,878 394,762,645 426,621,672 446,879,462 13,158,072 1,849,499 5,718,286,228

OPEB Supplemental Death Benefit

Plan (note 12 (d)) 5,034,167 1,184,046 1,279,604 1,340,365 39,466 5,547 8,883,195

General Obligation Bonds Unlimited

Tax 369,115,000 —  —  —  —  —  369,115,000

General Obligation Bonds Limited Tax 155,511,968 —  5,458,032 —  —  —  160,970,000

Revenue bonds (note 6) —  2,824,494,316 —  2,524,775,000 —  5,349,269,316

POC (note 8) 1,180,285,236 89,079,643 103,935,832 78,604,289 —  —  1,451,905,000

Notes and loans payable 33,600,000 —  —  —  —  —  33,600,000

Accrued compensated absences (note 6) 66,500,292 1,194,979 3,436,935 10,622,865 179,633 17,349 81,952,053

Accrued workers compensation (note 6) 61,849,000 3,293,000 4,302,693 9,590,000 597,000 81,000 79,712,693

Capital leases payable —  —  8,243,938 —  —  —  8,243,938

Claims and judgments (note 6) 54,499,463 190,000 —  243,986 113,997 2,000 55,049,446

Accrued pollution remediation 156,765 —  —  —  —  —  156,765

Total long-term obligations subject

to compromise 6,850,535,167 3,477,741,349 693,861,706 3,229,185,247 14,088,168 1,955,395 14,267,367,032

Current obligations subject to compromise:

Accounts payable 50,176,837 50,488,376 9,010,130 23,947,479 349,573 102,394 134,074,789

Accrued liabilities 53,467,821 —  —  —  —  —  53,467,821

Accrued interest payable 30,143,758 70,858,984 1,737,106 66,454,704 237,550 —  169,432,102

Due to other governmental agencies 130,821,685 —  —  —  —  2,234 130,823,919

Due to fiduciary funds 141,316,438 —  13,631,878 25,278 621,640 503,834 156,099,068

Due to component units 9,125,372 —  —  —  —  —  9,125,372

Deposits and refunds 14,172,507 —  —  —  —  —  14,172,507

Swap liability 239,677,971 18,581,500 21,739,808 16,489,465 —  —  296,488,744

Other liabilities 15,660,102 23,327,269 —  13,592,704 658,573 2,054,629 55,293,277

Total current obligations subject

to compromise 684,562,491 163,256,129 46,118,922 120,509,630 1,867,336 2,663,091 1,018,977,599

 

Amounts that the City recorded as liabilities subject to compromise are in many instances different 

from amounts filed by the creditors. Differences between amounts scheduled by the City and claims 

filed by the creditors are being investigated and will be resolved in connection with the claims 

reconciliation process. Until the process is complete, the ultimate number and amount of allowable 

claims cannot be ascertained. In this regard, it should be noted that the claims reconciliation process 

may result in adjustments to current estimates of allowable claims. Although the City currently 

believes the liability amounts are fairly represented, the ultimate resolution of these claims will be 

based upon the final plan of adjustment confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. 

Bonds Subject to Compromise 

Listed below are the General Obligation Unlimited Tax, General Obligation Limited Tax and 

Revenue bonds that are subject to compromise. 
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Balance Balance

June 30, 2013 June 30, 2013

Governmental Activities:

General obligation bonds - General obligation bonds -

Unlimited tax: Limited tax:

Series 1999-A 18,470,000   Self-insurance bonds:

Series 2001-A(1) 77,600,000   Series 2004 13,000,000   

Series 2001-B 4,000,000   General obligation:

Series 2002 6,645,000   Series 2005-A(1) 7,720,000   

Series 2003-A —    Series 2005-A(1) 52,175,000   

Series 2003-A 34,380,000   Series 2005-A(2) 1,460,000   

Series 2004-A(1) 39,270,000   Series 2005-A(2) 9,475,000   

Series 2004-B(1) 8,275,000   Series 2005-B 1,935,000   

Series 2004-B(1) 29,365,000   Series 2005-B 6,940,000   

Series 2004-B(2) 725,000   Series 2008-A(1) 37,806,968   

Series 2005-B 6,875,000   Series 2008-A(2) 25,000,000   

Series 2005-B 37,920,000   155,511,968   

Series 2005-C 7,605,000   

Series 2005-C 10,795,000   

Series 2008-A 15,120,000   

Series 2008-A 43,510,000   

Series 2008-B(1) 28,560,000   

369,115,000   
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Balance Balance

June 30, 2013 June 30, 2013

Business-type Activities:

Transportation Fund: Water Fund:

General obligation bonds - Water supply system revenue

Limited tax: bonds (note 7):

Series 2008-A(1) 5,458,032   Series 1993 24,725,000   

Sewage Disposal Fund: Series 1997-A 13,430,000   

Sewage disposal system revenue Series 1999-A —    

bonds: Series 2001-A 73,790,000   

Series 1998-A 16,435,000   Series 2001-C 2,240,000   

Series 1998-A 49,075,000   Series 2001-C 186,350,000   

Series 1998-B 16,505,000   Series 2003-A 178,785,000   

Series 1998-B 48,770,000   Series 2003-B 41,770,000   

Series 1999-A —    Series 2003-C 4,335,000   

Series 1999-A 61,429,316   Series 2003-C 25,325,000   

Series 2001-B 110,550,000   Series 2003-D 1,320,000   

Series 2001-C (1) 4,410,000   Series 2003-D 139,575,000   

Series 2001-C (1) 148,510,000   Series 2004-A 17,520,000   

Series 2001-C (2) 2,020,000   Series 2004-A 55,165,000   

Series 2001-C (2) 119,630,000   Series 2004-B 29,975,000   

Series 2001-D 21,300,000   Series 2004-B 100,990,000   

Series 2001-E 136,150,000   Series 2005-A 6,375,000   

Series 2003-A 70,450,000   Series 2005-A 84,035,000   

Series 2003-A 128,940,000   Series 2005-B 13,525,000   

Series 2003-B 150,000,000   Series 2005-B 175,830,000   

Series 2004-A 67,755,000   Series 2005-C 21,090,000   

Series 2005-A 1,820,000   Series 2005-C 90,200,000   

Series 2005-A 236,770,000   Series 2006-A 26,900,000   

Series 2005-B 37,195,000   Series 2006-A 237,205,000   

Series 2005-C 12,425,000   Series 2006-B 700,000   

Series 2005-C 41,095,000   Series 2006-B 119,100,000   

Series 2006-A 123,655,000   Series 2006-C 9,655,000   

Series 2006-B 6,335,000   Series 2006-C 208,060,000   

Series 2006-B 238,150,000   Series 2006-D 1,760,000   

Series 2006-C 8,495,000   Series 2006-D 142,160,000   

Series 2006-C 18,065,000   Series 2011-A 32,380,000   

Series 2006-D 288,780,000   Series 2011-A 341,710,000   

Series 2012-A 95,445,000   Series 2011-B 6,390,000   

Series 2012-A 564,335,000   Series 2011-B 9,740,000   

2,824,494,316   Series 2011-C 2,700,000   

Series 2011-C 99,965,000   

2,524,775,000   
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(b) Legal Matters 

For more than 35 years, the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (DWSD) was a defendant in a 

lawsuit initiated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the EPA). In 1977, the EPA 

sued the City and the DWSD, alleging violations of the federal Clean Water Act (the CWA). The 

case was pending in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan (the District 

Court)—and the DWSD operated under federal court oversight—until March of 2013 due to “a 

recurring cycle” of compliance failures with regard to the CWA and National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System (NPDES) permits required by the Michigan Department of Environmental 

Quality (the MDEQ). Pursuant to an Administrative Consent Order (the ACO) with the MDEQ, in 

July 2011 the DWSD agreed to undertake certain remedial measures to address what the District 

Court had identified as areas of persistent dysfunction, including deficiencies in maintenance, capital 

expenditures, planning, staffing, and procurement. As of the Petition Date, the ACO remained 

effective, allowing the MDEQ to continue its oversight of the DWSD. 

Determining that the ACO, standing alone, was insufficient to guarantee the DWSD’s long-term 

compliance with the CWA and NPDES standards, in 2011, the District Court ordered a “Root Cause 

Committee” comprised of City and DWSD officials to formulate a plan to address the root causes of 

the DWSD’s persistent noncompliance. The Root Cause Committee drafted—and the District Court 

adopted—a “Plan of Action,” which proposed to restructure the DWSD to address systemic 

dysfunction and achieve long-term compliance with federal and state environmental standards. In 

March 2013, the Root Cause Committee submitted a plan to the District Court recommending the 

creation of an autonomous DWSD. On March 27, 2013, the District Court issued an order closing the 

case and declining to address the Root Cause Committee’s recommendation for further restructuring 

the DWSD. In its order dismissing the case, the District Court stated that it was satisfied that the 

court’s orders “have been substantially implemented.” 

On April 8, 2013, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals issued a ruling in favor of certain unions that 

had sought to intervene in the case prior to the dismissal, reversing the District Court’s denial of 

certain motions to intervene and remanding for a limited grant of intervention. 

On June 5, 2013, the District Court issued an order to show cause regarding the question of whether 

the District Court is divested of jurisdiction to address the remanded issues as a result of the order of 

dismissal. The City also has commenced an appeal in this case. On July 30, 2013, the Sixth Circuit 

Court of Appeals stayed the City’s appeal pending resolution of the City’s Chapter 9 bankruptcy 

case. 

(c) Debt Ratings 

On July 3, 2013, Standard & Poor’s downgraded the rating on the Water Fund on the senior lien and 

second lien revenue bonds to “BB-” and then again lowered the rating on March 25, 2014 to a 

“CCC.” On February 28, 2014, Fitch downgraded the Water revenue bonds. Senior lien Water Fund 

revenue bonds were downgraded to “BB+” from “BBB+.” Water Fund second lien revenue bonds 

were downgraded to “BB” from “BBB.” 
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(d) Other Matters 

On November 14, 2012, the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department’s Board of Water 

Commissioners approved a $2 million contract with a consultant, EMA, for job redesign and 

organizational optimization services with a term that ended June 30, 2013. On June 26 and July 24, 

2013, three additional contracts were awarded continue the entity wide organizational optimization. 

First, the Phase II Amendment Project ($1,999,760) is implementing the Job Design and new 

Business Processes at the Water Plants, System Control Center, Wastewater Plant, and Field Service 

Yards. Second, the Phase IV Information Technology (IT) Project ($1,550,000) is developing the 

requirements and documentation for the Enterprise Resource Planning/Financial System, producing 

an IT and Geographic Information System Roadmap, developing the Network Requirements, and 

other related systems, governance, and planning matters. Third, the Phase V Asset Management 

Program ($1,996,540) is developing and implementing specific requirements for asset management 

activities to meet the regulatory requirements. These projects will be completed in phases over a 12 

to 30 month time period. 
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Other Supplemental Information 

As discussed in note 4, City of Detroit bond ordinance requires minimum levels of assets held in reserve 

for debt service on revenue bonds and to provide funds for improvements, enlargements, extensions, and 

construction. The Water Fund’s reserves consist of the following cash and investments classified on the 

statement of net position as either restricted or unrestricted as follows: 

Funded from

Funded from revenues debt issuance

Water Fund Unrestricted Restricted restricted Total

Flow of funds (per ordinance):

Receiving fund $ —  —  —  —  

Operations and maintenance 12,484,444  —  —  12,484,444  

Senior lien debt service —  82,257,737  —  82,257,737  

Senior lien bond reserve —  —  147,912,297  147,912,297  

Second lien debt service —  23,445,460  —  23,445,460  

Second lien bond reserve —  63,870,435  63,870,435  

Extraordinary repair and replacement 22,472,000  —  —  22,472,000  

Improvement and extension —  —  —  —  

Subtotal – Reserves defined

by ordinance 34,956,444  105,703,197  211,782,732  352,442,373  

Less funded by surety (noncash) —  —  (139,468,933) (139,468,933) 

Total – Reserves defined by

ordinance (net of Surety

coverage) 34,956,444  105,703,197  72,313,799  212,973,440  

Unspent construction bond proceeds —  —  155,358,575  155,358,575  

Other restricted proceeds —  984,664  —  984,664  

Variance from ordinance requirement 12,717,912  —  —  12,717,912  

Total cash, cash equivalents

and investments $ 47,674,356  106,687,861  227,672,374  382,034,591  

 

Note: Surety coverage includes series specific policies; therefore, represents the lesser of the maximum 

amount of the policy, or amount of reserve requirement allocated to the specific series covered by such 

policy. 

See accompanying independent auditor’s report 




